DIGITAL CONGLOMERATES AND EU COMPETITION POLICY

MARCH 2019

Marc Bourreau, Telecom ParisTech, CERRE

Alexandre de Streel, University of Namur, CRIDS/NADI, CERRE



Abstract

The paper analyses firms' motivations and the competitive effects of digital conglomerates with the relevant industrial organisation and strategic management literature. On that basis, it makes recommendations to improve the methodologies and modes of operation of EU competition policy in the digital sector. The paper first shows that some of the characteristics of the digital economy may explain digital conglomerates. On the supply-side, those include the important economies of scope in product development as product innovation and development are often modular and based on shared inputs (such as data, hardware and software). On the demand-side, those include the consumer synergies generated by product ecosystems.

The paper then shows that the pro- and anti-competitive effects of conglomerates are amplified in the digital economy. Regarding the anti-competitive effects, bundling may allow big platforms to envelop their smaller competitors in adjacent markets, raise entry barriers for innovating entrants or soften competition by increasing differentiation. The control of key sharable inputs may increase the incentives to refuse access or decrease the costs of an anti-competitive product proliferation strategy. Those effects are even stronger when the digital conglomerate has achieved the position of gatekeeper for access to customers or to specific products. Those anti-competitive effects should always be balanced with the positive welfare effects of digital conglomerates that are equally amplified. Moreover, conglomerate acquisitions of innovative start-ups may in some circumstances lead to a decrease in innovation, which is detrimental to welfare.

The paper finally recommends some improvements in the enforcement of EU competition policy in digital markets. (i) Dynamic efficiency should be prioritised over static efficiencies; (ii) Market power should be assessed dynamically by focusing more on potential competition and by defining markets for sharable inputs and innovation capabilities; (iii) The theories of harms should be adapted to the firms' incentives in the digital economy, in particular the anti-competitive bundling theories need to be extended, the threshold to impose access under the essential facilities doctrine needs to be adapted to the characteristics of data and the effects of a merger on innovation need to be directly taken into account; (iv) Antitrust intervention should be quicker and more agile and the standard of proof should not only take into account the risk of type I and type II errors but also the cost of those errors.

TABLE OF CONTENTS '

1. Introduction	4
2. Motivations and effects of digital conglomerates	6
2.1. Firms' motivations for digital conglomerates	6
2.1.1. Lessons from past conglomerate mergers	6
2.1.2. New theories for the digital economy	9
2.2. Competitive effects of digital conglomerates	13
2.2.1. Bundling, product ecosystems and envelopment	14
2.2.2. Economies of scope, product proliferation and essential components	18
2.2.3. Digital platforms as gatekeepers	19
2.2.4. Pre-emptive acquisitions and kill zone	21
2.3. Interim conclusion	23
3. Recommendations to adapt EU Competition methodologies and enforcement	24
3.1. Applying antitrust in dynamic markets: Ensuring market contestability	24
3.2. Determination of market power	25
3.3. Theories of harm	28
3.3.1. Bundling and envelopment	28
3.3.2. Access to key inputs and components	30
3.3.3. Pre-emptive acquisition in the kill zone:	
A Downward Innovation Pressure test	31
3.4. Procedures and Institutions	33
3.4.1. Markets dynamism and antitrust velocity	33
3.4.2. Market uncertainty and antitrust legal proof	34
4. Conclusion	36
References	38

¹ This is an independent paper, which reflects the views of its authors. The paper was supported financially by the leading telecoms association *ETNO – European Telecommunications Network Operators' Association*. This report does not necessarily reflect the views of ETNO and of its member companies, nor it does engage them.

1. INTRODUCTION

One of the main and most intriguing characteristics of the digital sector is the resurgence of conglomeralism.² The big-tech companies have achieved high degrees of diversification, entering weakly related – or even sometimes totally unrelated – new markets. For example, Amazon has expanded from the online sale of books to the sale of almost everything online, including payment services, cloud computing, as well as movie and television series production and distribution.³ Google has expanded from search to maps, operating systems, mobile and personal computing devices, and cloud services.⁴ Facebook has diversified into photo and video social networking with Instagram, messaging with WhatsApp, and virtual reality with Oculus VR.⁵

Those diversifications happen either organically when the firm expands directly into new markets; through financing, via corporate venture capital funds,⁶ of new start-ups; or through mergers and acquisitions. Indeed, over recent years we have observed a wave of conglomerate mergers and acquisitions in the digital economy. Some flagship mergers have made headlines. For example, Facebook acquired WhatsApp for \$19bn in 2014, Google took control of Motorola Mobility in the same year for \$12.5bn, and Microsoft bought LinkedIn for \$26bn in 2016.⁷ In parallel to these large operations, the big-tech companies also buy many successful or promising start-ups on a very large scale. For example, for the year 2017 alone, Alphabet, Amazon, Apple, Facebook and Microsoft spent a total of \$31.6bn on acquisitions of start-ups.⁸ Over the period 2001-2018, Google alone has been buying one firm per month, every month.⁹

Therefore, competition in the digital sector today is heavily shaped by this competition between large digital conglomerates.¹⁰ Big-tech players all keep strongholds where they have been historically powerful: search for Alphabet/Google (with more than 90% market share worldwide),¹¹ e-commerce for Amazon (with a market share close to 50% in the US),¹² social networks for Facebook (with a market share close to 70%).¹³ They also compete with one another on multiple markets and with smaller rivals focusing on specific markets.

This conglomeralism and competition takes place against the background of rapid innovation and dynamic market forces. As shown by the 2018 EU Industrial R&D Investment scoreboard,¹⁴ ICT producers and service providers are among the top investors in R&D and the big Internet firms are among the most important investors in these categories.¹⁵

² See Petit (2016) and Lim (2017).

³ See "Conglomerates Didn't Die. They Look Like Amazon", *The New York Times*, 19 June 2017.

⁴ See <u>www.en.wikipedia.org/wiki/List_of_Google_products</u>.

⁵ See <u>www.en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Facebook</u>.

⁶ Such as Google Ventures for Alphabet, Microsoft Ventures and Microsoft Accelerator, Facebook Inc. Investment Arm, Amazon.com Inc., Investment Arm.

⁷ For a list of mergers and acquisitions by Facebook, Google and Microsoft, see www.en.wikipedia.org/wiki/List of mergers and acquisitions by Facebook, www.en.wikipedia.org/wiki/List of mergers and acquisitions by Alphabet, and www.en.wikipedia.org/wiki/List_of_mergers_and_acquisitions_by_Microsoft, respectively.

⁸ The Economist, 26/10/2018, "American tech giants are making life tough for startups".

⁹ <u>www.en.wikipedia.org/wiki/List_of_mergers_and_acquisitions_by_Alphabet.</u>

¹⁰ Petit (2016) talks of competition between "moligopolists": conglomerates that have strong market power (at the extreme, a "monopoly") in a given historical market, while competing with one another in other (weakly related) markets as "oligopolists", hence the word "moligopolists".

¹¹ <u>www.gs.statcounter.com/search-engine-market-share</u>.

¹² www.techcrunch.com/2018/07/13/amazons-share-of-the-us-e-commercemarket-is-now-49-or-5-of-all-retail-spend/?guccounter=1.

¹³ www.gs.statcounter.com/social-media-stats.

¹⁴ www.iri.jrc.ec.europa.eu/scoreboard18.html

¹⁵ See Figure 4.1. of the 2018 EU Industrial R&D Investment scoreboard.



Innovations are based on, and can be developed with, innovation capabilities, as explained by strategic management literature (Teece, 2009). In the digital sector, innovation capabilities include data, skills, computing power and risky capital.¹¹ As we will show, there may be link between the rise of conglomeralism and the reliance on innovation capabilities.

This paper analyses firms' motivations and the competitive effects of digital conglomeralism, along with the consequences for antitrust methodologies and enforcement. The paper aims to strengthen the relevance and the effectiveness, in the digital sector, of competition policy as a key instrument to promote innovation, safeguard market contestability and ensure a level playing field between the different actors of the sector. To do so, we rely on industrial organisation literature on conglomerate diversification and on the characteristics of digital firms, as well as on strategic management literature. The paper is structured as follows: after this introduction, Section 2 deals with the main motivations and effects of digital conglomerates, then Section 3 deals with the implications for competition methodologies and enforcement and, finally, Section 4 briefly concludes and summarises.

¹⁶ This is why the Coordinated Plan on Artificial Intelligence of December 2018 aims to promote skills, computing power and European data space: Communication from the Commission of 7 December 2018, COM(2018) 795. Petit (2016:23) also observes that human resources represent the main R&D investment for digital firms.

2. MOTIVATIONS AND EFFECTS OF DIGITAL CONGLOMERATES

Before discussing the implications for competition policy of the emergence of digital conglomerates, we need to understand the motivations of digital firms to expand as conglomerates, that is, to diversify in markets that are weakly related to their primary markets. Since the rise of digital conglomerates seems to echo the conglomerates of the 1960s and 1970s, we start by looking at the industrial organisation literature that tried to understand the conglomerate mergers taking place 50 years ago, and see what lessons we can draw from the past. We also discuss two factors which play a strong role in the emergence of digital conglomerates: economies of scope in product development (supply-side synergies) and ecosystem linkage (demand-side synergies). Then, we consider competitive effects that can arise via: (i) bundling and envelopment, (ii) economies of scope in product development and product line expansion, (iii) the emergence of gatekeepers, and (iv) pre-emptive acquisitions – and discuss their policy implications.

2.1. Firms' motivations for digital conglomerates

2.1.1. Lessons from past conglomerate mergers

(i) Past theories for conglomerate mergers

A conglomerate merger can be defined as a merger between neighbouring markets¹⁷ with nonsubstitutable products that are offered to the same group of consumers.¹⁸ The EU Non-Horizontal Mergers Guidelines define conglomerate mergers as 'mergers between firms that are in a relationship which is neither horizontal (as competitors in the same relevant market) nor vertical (as suppliers or customers).'¹⁹

Before the wave of conglomerate mergers that we are witnessing today in the digital economy, a major rise

of conglomerate mergers took place in the 1960s and the 1970s, when the large firms of the time diversified their operations by acquiring firms in unrelated (or weakly related) markets.²⁰ This wave of conglomerate mergers generated a lot of debate, both in policy and academic circles, first to understand the motivations of firms to expand in seemingly unrelated markets and the profitability of this strategy and, second, to assess whether competition authorities should be concerned by this specific type of merger, which *a priori* did not seem motivated by an increase of market power. In particular, it generated a vibrant stream of literature in industrial organisation, whose objective was to understand the rationale for these mergers.

In what follows, we present the main economic theories that have been proposed to explain the wave of conglomerate mergers of the 1960s and 1970s, based in particular on the literature review

¹⁷ Neighbouring markets are markets of products that are "weak" substitutes, in the sense that the substitution between the products is not strong enough to place them in the same antitrust market (Neven, 2007).

¹⁸ Since the merger involves products that do not belong to the same antitrust markets, the conglomerate effects that can arise are only indirect. Also, these indirect effects are at play only to the extent that the products are offered to a same group of consumers (Neven, 2007). This definition thus excludes conglomerates that would serve different consumer groups with different products.

¹⁹ Commission Guidelines of November 2007 on the assessment of non-horizontal mergers under the Council Regulation on the control of concentrations between undertakings, O.J. [2008] C 265/6, paras 5 and 91. Similarly, the US Merger Guidelines consider that "non-horizontal" mergers include vertical mergers and conglomerate mergers, and thus conglomerate mergers are mergers that are neither horizontal nor vertical.

²⁰ See, e.g., Montgomery (1994). She notices that though we have observed various merger waves in the 20th century, it is a regularity over time that large firms are highly diversified.

by Montgomery (1994). We will then discuss to what extent these theories are useful to understand the current rise of digital conglomerates. Note that some of these theories are relevant to explain the development of a firm as a conglomerate both through external growth (mergers and acquisitions) and internal growth (diversification within the firm).

By and large, a firm decides to diversify in a neighbouring market via merger or acquisition, leading to a conglomerate merger, if the benefits of this diversification outweigh the associated costs. The benefits accrue from operating a new business, with possible synergies for existing lines of business. The costs relate to transaction and organisational costs for the expanding firm (as organisational costs may increase with size), and costs that may arise due to agency conflicts between managers and shareholders. Costs may also include the opportunity costs of foregone alternative diversifications or use of capital and other resources, in particular when the diversification is risky. Once again, note that diversification can also be achieved via internal growth; we will come back below to this trade-off for a firm between internal and external growth.

Mueller (1977) argues that since they concern weakly related markets, it is difficult to explain conglomerate mergers only by the motivation to increase market power and/or economic efficiencies, which are standard explanations for horizontal mergers. As a response to this apparent puzzle, various theories have been proposed in industrial organisation literature to explain the conglomerate mergers of the 1960s and 1970s. We discuss below four main theories: agency, market power, resource and, finally, internal capital market.²¹

The agency theory argues that the conglomerate mergers are not profit-maximizing, but rather the

result of some misalignment between the incentives of firms' shareholders and managers (Montgomery, 1994). According to this theory, managers advocate for conglomerate mergers that serve their personal objectives and not their shareholders' interests. One view among many along these lines is the theory of managerial entrenchment (Schleifer and Vishny, 1989), according to which a manager follows a diversification strategy that maximizes the firm's demand for her specific skills. If the agency theory is correct, the conglomerate mergers of the 1960s and 1970s should have been unprofitable. However, Matsusaka (1993) provides some empirical evidence that this is not the case: for a sample of conglomerates, he finds that the value of the holdings increased after the announcement of diversification.

The remaining theories take the view that conglomerate mergers were motivated by profit gains for holdings. The theories then try to explain the source of profits from diversification in neighbouring markets.

The market power theory argues that, although conglomerates diversify into seemingly unrelated markets, this may indirectly increase their market power. For example, this may be because high degrees of diversification increase multi-market contacts, thereby facilitating (tacit) collusion between conglomerate firms.²² Conglomerate firms may also use cross subsidies between different lines of business to increase their market power in a given market, for example through predatory pricing. This is sometimes referred to as the "deep pocket" theory.

The resource theory argues that firms diversify in response to an excess capacity in specific "resources". In this theory (Penrose, 1959), a firm's resources can be of different types: production factors, some specific goods or services that the firm has produced, or the knowledge that the firm has accumulated over time.

²¹ Other theories have been proposed to explain the conglomerates mergers of the 1960's and 1970's. Our objective here is not to provide a comprehensive overview of all these theories, but rather to focus on those which are considered as the main theories today. For example, the (very simple) 'life-cycle' theory (Audretsch, 1989) argues that firms in a mature or declining industry have an incentive to expand in new markets that are at an early stage of their life cycle,

with high prospects in terms of growth of activity and profits (but one may wonder why a firm would have to wait for its activity to decline to enter a promising new market).

²² See Bernheim and Whinston (1990) for a theory of tacit collusion with multi-market contacts.

The firm expands as long as its resource capacity is not fully employed. One might wonder though why the firm expands via mergers and acquisitions, rather than selling its excess capacity, on the market, to outside firms. One possible answer proposed by Teece (1980, 1982) is that there are market failures in the trade of intangible specific assets, which leads firms to favour diversification over the selling of assets.

The internal capital market theory argues that firms diversify as a response to the imperfection of external capital markets (Williamson, 1970). When access to external funds is limited, conglomerate mergers allow the creation of internal capital markets²³ that may be more efficient, for example because they are less prone to asymmetric information problems (Alchian, 1969) or because the capital supplier has control rights (Gertner, Scharfstein and Stein, 1994).24 There is some empirical evidence in the economic literature that among the conglomerate mergers of the 1960s and 1970s, those focused on the creation of an internal capital market were indeed more profitable (see, e.g., Hubbard and Palia, 1999 and Klein, 2001). However, one might argue that if the conglomerates have access to cheaper capital, then they could lend funds to outside firms or invest in them, rather than acquiring them.

It is worth noting that diversification in neighbouring markets can be achieved not only via mergers and acquisitions, but also via internal development, i.e., a firm faces a trade-off between external and internal expansion (Deneffe and Wakker, 1996).²⁵ While the benefits from diversification are similar in both cases, each mode of diversification has its own costs. Mergers and acquisitions imply external transaction costs that can be avoided when the firm develops the same projects internally. Conversely, it may be more costly for a firm to conduct a project internally rather

than externally, for example because the firm lacks the necessary resources to conduct the project internally or because the development of the project within the firm requires organisational changes (e.g., setting up an autonomous entity to alleviate cannibalization concerns)²⁶ that may be costly to implement.

(ii) Implications for current digital conglomerates

Which lessons from the past are relevant today to understand diversification in the digital economy? The *agency theory*, which has been a popular explanation for the conglomerate mergers of the 1960s and 1970s, does not seem to explain very well the rise of digital conglomerates. Many big-tech companies (e.g., Google, Facebook, Amazon...) are indeed managed by their founders, or the managers are important shareholders in the firm.

The *market power theory* states that firms expand into neighbouring markets because it allows them to increase their market power indirectly. This motivation may be at play for digital conglomerates. In particular, we will argue below that digital firms have incentives to create product ecosystems, which increase differentiation and soften competition.

The *resource theory* provides another interesting framework to analyse the expansion of digital players in neighbouring markets. Clearly, digital players have important resources of various kinds that may be at a moment of time in excess capacity, which would then, according to this theory, incentivize the firms to expand. For example, Amazon invested very early in huge data centres to support the development of its e-commerce core activity. Amazon decided later on to enter the market for cloud services with Amazon Web Services, and it is said that excess capacity was one of the reasons.²⁷ Digital companies also heavily

²³ In corporate finance, it is common to distinguish providers of capital that are external to the firm (e.g., banks or venture capitalists) and providers of capital that are internal to the firm (i.e., headquarters, which allocate capital to their business units).

²⁴ Another financial explanation of the emergence of conglomerates is the idea that they reduce the likelihood of bankruptcy by mitigating risks over a portfolio of diversified operations (Lewellen, 1971).

²⁵ Note that internal and external growth are not necessarily exclusive: a firm

may decide to develop a project through both mergers and acquisitions and use of internal resources.

²⁶ See, for example, Christensen (1997) who argues that it is difficult for an incumbent firm to develop a disruptive innovation without setting up an autonomous organization.

²⁷ See, for example, "Servers for Hire", *MIT Technology Review*, September 28, 2006, <u>www.technologyreview.com/s/406593/servers-for-hire/</u>.

recruit talent, which is considered a key resource, in particular in technology and software, and accumulate knowledge in the same areas. Diversification into new innovative activities could be a reaction to excess capacity in these key resources, although strong evidence (apart from the anecdotal evidence cited above) is still missing. More generally, digital firms use or generate inputs – such as consumer data – that can be used in a variety of products. We will come back to this point below when we discuss the role of economies of scope in product development in digital markets.

Digital conglomerates also have internal capital markets that may allow new ventures to obtain funding more easily than from external capital markets. Gertner et al. (1994) argue that one of the advantages of internal capital markets compared to external capital markets is better asset redeployability. If a given unit fares poorly, the management of the firm can decide to redeploy the assets to other units or projects, at a lower cost than with external financing (in the latter case, it would imply selling the assets). In the digital sector, which is highly innovative, firms engage in new product development which is very risky in nature. One could argue that the ability to reallocate assets if the project fails may represent an advantage for the firm, and may thus favour the conglomerate format. In addition, we observe that many digital firms invest in new start-ups through venture funding, which also seems consistent with the internal capital market theory.

2.1.2. New theories for the digital economy

Apart from the theories on market power, resources or internal capital market discussed above, we argue that two key characteristics of the digital economy may also explain the rise of digital conglomerates: on the supply side, the presence of important economies of scope in the development of digital products and services; on the demand-side, consumption synergies derived by consumers when adopting product ecosystems. These two characteristics favour the development of wide product portfolios by digital players.

(i) Supply-side: Sharable inputs, modular design and economies of scope in product development

• The role of economies of scope in product development

As economies of scope play a central role in digital markets, in particular for product development, they may be a key factor explaining the diversification strategies we observe. In a nutshell, economies of scope exist when it is less costly to produce two or more products or services within a single firm than by separate firms (Panzar and Willig, 1981). Economies of scope exist due to the presence of sharable inputs in the production process, that is, inputs that can be used to produce one output, but can also be (re-)used to produce other outputs.²⁸ Examples of sharable inputs include a shared production platform that can be used or re-used for different outputs, human capital, knowledge, etc. The concept of sharable input is thus close to the idea of resources in excess capacity that we discussed above - since it can easily be shared, a sharable input can be viewed as a resource with low capacity constraints.

When the production process involves important economies of scope, a single-product firm may find it cost-efficient to expand into a multi-product firm. For example, once it has incurred the sunk cost of a shared production platform, it may be efficient for an automobile manufacturer to produce several car models for different consumer segments, rather than a single model. If the different products belong to weakly related or unrelated markets, the firm can benefit from economies of scope to expand into a conglomerate firm. However, as Teece (1980) notes, economies of scope will lead to the expansion of the firm only to the extent that the markets for sharable

²⁸ Panzar and Willig (1981) state an equivalence result between the presence of economies of scope and that of sharable inputs.

inputs do not function properly; otherwise, the firms could trade their excess capacity in sharable inputs instead of diversifying into new markets. Teece (1980) argues that for at least two types of sharable inputs, integration is the most efficient mode of organization for the firm: proprietary knowhow, and indivisible sharable assets.

Economies of scope can arise not only at the production stage, but also at the product development stage. Firms benefit from economies of scope in product development if some components of their existing products or services can be re-used for creating new product or service variants, that is, if these components are sharable inputs for product development in the sense of Panzar and Willig (1981), and if there are economies of scale in producing them.

We think that digital firms benefit from strong economies of scope in product development. Digital products are typically designed through combinations of hardware and software. For example, Google Search's service to the consumer involves hardware inputs (servers and network equipment) and software inputs (the search algorithm and its implementation). Hardware and software products have a modular design:²⁹ they consist of independent building blocks or components (chips, software modules, algorithms, etc.), whose interactions are ruled by standardized interfaces. Since the production of digital product modules involves large fixed costs and thus economies of scale, there are economies of scope in product development for digital products. For example, Apple has developed an in-house range of processors, which are used and re-used across its product line for iPhones and iPads: they represent a sharable input in product development, which reduces the development cost of each new device.³⁰ Similarly, Google accumulates knowledge on artificial intelligence, another sharable input, in various projects and this knowledge can be used across a wide variety of products and services.31

Eaton and Schmitt (1994) show how the presence of economies of scope in product development can promote diversification and concentrated market structures. They adopt Hotelling's model of a linear city to represent the different consumer tastes as well as the possible product designs. Eaton and Schmitt then consider that a firm can invest in a "flexible production system", allowing it to produce a "basic" product that can be modified to produce different product "variants". Modifying the basic product to produce a variant involves a cost of switching the production process from one variant to another and a per-unit cost of modification. The latter is proportional to the distance between the basic product and the variant, whereas the former is not. In this model, there are economies of scope if the most efficient method of production consists of producing fewer basic products than the number of goods in the product line, that is, if the firm produces variants and not only basic products. The authors also show that with a perfectly inelastic demand and sequential entry, there is entry deterrence and monopolisation of the market.

As argued above, digital products and services use inputs that are to some extent sharable and thus imply economies of scope in product development.³² Because of the modularity of their product design, a digital output (e.g., a map service) can also be used as an input (e.g., for a navigation system). Besides, one could argue that some digital sharable inputs (e.g., hardware, software or algorithms) are generalpurpose technologies,³³ which can be implemented in a wide variety of products and services and allow firms to expand into weakly related markets. For example, server farms allowed Amazon to deliver e-commerce services worldwide from the beginning, but also, later on, to distribute movies and television programs online to their customer base, two a priori unrelated activities. Therefore, the diversification possibilities allowed by modular design and economies of scope in product development seem to be of a much larger magnitude for digital products than for traditional products.

²⁹ See Sanchez and Mahoney (1996), p. 67, for a list of modular products, which includes hardware and software.

³⁰ See <u>www.en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Apple-designed_processors</u>.

³¹ See <u>www.char.gd/blog/2017/googles-deep-focus-on-ai-is-paying-off</u>.

³² On the implications of modular design on product innovation in digital markets, see Bourreau, Doğan and Manant (2007).

³³ On the characteristics of the general purpose technologies, see the seminar paper of Bresnahan and Trajtenberg (1995)

Data as a sharable input for product development

The possibility to collect large amounts of data on consumers can affect the incentives of digital companies to develop new products.³⁴ First, data can be used as an input and allows firms to develop new products and services. Since data is non-rival, it can be viewed as a sharable input for product development, leading to economies of scope in product development. As in the model of Eaton and Schmidt (1994), firms may develop a basic product allowing them to collect consumer data, and then use the data to develop product variants or even totally new products.³⁵ For example, Google collects large amounts of data about what consumers are looking for via its existing services (e.g., search),³⁶ and it could thus potentially develop new services where it observes high demand and low supply. A US furniture maker, Williams-Sonoma, recently filed a complaint against Amazon in December 2018, which seems to fit with this story. According to the plaintiff, Amazon predicts which products consumers want based on the data that it collects on its platform, introduces these products under its brand name, and finally biases its search algorithm to favour its own products against those of independent merchants.³⁷ Zhu and Liu (2018) published an empirical study of Amazon's entry strategy in product categories. Using data on 163,853 products sold on Amazon.com in 22 subcategories, the authors show that Amazon is indeed more likely to enter popular product categories, which the company can easily detect.

Prufer and Schottmüller (2017) propose a model which illustrates the importance of data in product innovation and diversification strategies. They build up a model of dynamic R&D competition, where the amount of data collected from consumers reduce the firm's marginal cost of innovation, an effect that they refer to as "data-driven indirect network effects". Their main focus is on the competition in a given market,38 but they also investigate the impact of data-driven indirect network effects on the incentives of a digital company to enter new markets. More specifically, they study the entry strategy of a firm that benefits from data-driven indirect network effects, which then enters another market that is not initially data-driven. They show that, if entry costs are not too high, the firm can leverage its market power in its primary market to dominate the new market. This happens in particular if the markets are what the authors call "connected", which means that the data collected in one market allows the improvement of product quality in another. With data-driven network effects, firms thus have incentives to diversify into connected markets. Note that two markets can be connected because they share the same data, while being weakly related from a product market definition point of view.

Second, platforms may wish to expand into new markets to acquire new data on unattached consumers or complementary data on attached consumers. They may try to follow consumers across multiple devices (e.g., from laptop to phone to tablet) or across multiple applications (think of Facebook login), to better monetize their attention to online advertisers.³⁹ They may also decide to diversify to tap into new market segments. For example, some have argued that Facebook bought Instagram in 2012 because the latter app was more popular among young consumers.⁴⁰ With this type of strategy, firms aim to become "gatekeepers" for access to consumers; we will come back below to the implications of this type of strategy.

³⁴ Data can be an input for digital firms, allowing the personalization of products and services, to improve recommendation or search algorithms, to predict consumer demand, etc. Data can also be an output, for example when it is sold to data brokers. On the role of data in the business models of digital firms, see Lambrecht et al. (2014) and Bourreau, de Streel and Graef (2017).

³⁵ Note that data being non-rival goods, the incremental cost of using the data in the design of a new product is close to zero. We could thus also argue that data have some aspect of a general-purpose technology.

³⁶ See, for example, Varian, Hal (2011), "Predicting the Present", available at <u>www.thinkwithgoogle.com/marketing-resources/predicting-the-present/.</u>

³⁷ See Hal Singer, "How to stop Amazon from swallowing the Internet", *Forbes*, 28 January 2019.

³⁸ They show that due to the presence of data-driven network effects, the market will tip and one firm will eventually dominate.

³⁹ See, e.g., Adam Tanner, "How Ads Follow You from Phone to Desktop to Tablet", *MIT Technology Review*, 1 July 2015.

⁴⁰ See, Tim Wu, "The case for breaking up Facebook and Instagram", *The Washington Post*, 28 September 2018.

A relevant question is whether the data collected by firms to engage in product diversification and/ or improve the monetization of consumer attention can constitute a sustainable competitive advantage for those firms. Using the resource-view of the firm, Lambrecht and Tucker (2015) discuss whether big data can provide a competitive advantage, which amounts to determining whether it is inimitable, rare, valuable and non-substitutable. They argue that big data is neither inimitable nor rare, that there are alternative sources of data for competitors, hence substitute data exists, and finally that big data is not valuable by itself. They conclude that big data cannot constitute a sustainable competitive advantage by itself, but that it has to be combined with other resources, e.g., organization resources. However, the Report by the German Monopolkommission (2015) comes to the opposite conclusion, stating that "[h]aving control over and being able to analyse large volumes of data can be a crucial competitive advantage". We believe that it is not possible to make a general conclusion on whether or not big data confers a competitive advantage. As we have already argued (Bourreau et al, 2017), the question should rather be assessed on a case-by-case basis: in some contexts, data may constitute a competitive advantage, and in others it will not be the case.

To sum up, due to their modular design and economies of scale in producing digital modules (hardware, software, data, etc.), digital products exhibit strong economies of scope in product development. As a consequence, digital firms have incentives to expand their product lines, in particular via internal diversification. Acquiring new ventures may also allow digital companies to use modules from their targets across their product portfolios, reinforcing the magnitude of economies of scope.

Finally, note that if sharable inputs and modular design facilitate the expansion of a firm into a multiproduct entity, they can also create opportunities for cooperation in product development between competing firms. An example is given by open source software: individuals, but also very often private software companies, cooperate in the development of open source software, because software modules can easily be shared between cooperating parties and are interoperable.⁴¹

(ii) *Demand-side: Consumption synergies and product ecosystems*

Economies of scope correspond to synergies generated on the supply side from the operation of multiple product lines. In addition, synergies can also arise from the demand side. For example, consumers can positively value purchasing different products or services from the same seller. Such consumption synergies may be of different types. First, they may derive from bundling, for example if consumers value receiving a single bill. They may also be due to lower transaction costs (e.g., lower search costs for individual products). Second, consumption synergies can be endogenous to firms' decisions. Firms can invest to create ties or linkages between their different products (even possibly unrelated products), to increase the complementarity between them. For example, the Apple Watch can only be used together with an Apple iPhone and not with a smartphone from another manufacturer. With this linkage, a consumer derives an additional benefit (a consumption synergy) when buying the iPhone and the Apple Watch together, even though these two products are not sold as a bundle by Apple. We will refer to such a set of products sold separately by a firm, which generates consumption synergies for consumers when bought together, as a product ecosystem.⁴²

There is some analogy between consumption synergies derived from ecosystem linkage and economies of scope: in the same way as economies of scope derive from the presence of sharable inputs in the production process, consumption synergies from

⁴¹ On the relationship between modular design and cooperation in product development, see, e.g., Bourreau, Doğan and Manant (2016).

⁴² We assume positive (net) synergies. One could argue that product ecosystems may also generate disutility for consumers, for example due to privacy issues (the

consumer can be tracked across multiple devices) or the risk of being locked-in into an ecosystem. However, we expect that consumers will adopt product ecosystems only to the extent that the associated benefits are larger than the costs.

ecosystem linkage are due to shared functionalities between products in the ecosystem. However, demand-side (consumption) synergies differ from supply-side synergies (economies of scope) in that consumers may have different valuations for consumption synergies (Chen and Rey, 2018). For example, some consumers may have a high opportunity cost of time, others a lower opportunity cost of time, and thus they will perceive different benefits from one-stop shopping. Or, consumers may place differing value on the linkage between the iPhone and the Apple Watch. It may even be the case that some consumers dislike such linkage, while others value it. Via a merger, firms selling individual products can extract some - but not all (due to consumer heterogeneity) - consumer surplus from consumption synergies. More generally, this gives firms incentives to diversify into product markets that can generate such consumption synergies.

Koca (2018) considers consumption synergies as a strategic decision for firms. By investing into a linkage between its different products and/or services, a firm can create a product ecosystem. More specifically, Koca proposes a model where an ecosystem firm provides two products, a base product and a category product, and can invest to increase the complementarity (or, equivalently, decrease the substitutability) between the two products, hence "link" the two products together. The ecosystem is a monopolist for the base product market and faces competition from a rival single-product firm in the market for the category product (the "category firm"). The firms compete in prices and quality innovation. She shows that ecosystem leverage can hurt the category firm when the base and category products are substitutes, but that it benefits the category firm when they are complements.

Whether they take the form of consumption synergies (Chen and Rey, 2018) or ecosystem linkage (Koca, 2018), the presence of demand-side synergies gives another incentive to firms to expand their product lines or to create product ecosystems, to capture some of the value generated for consumers by consumption synergies. In turn, this gives them incentives to expand into new markets to develop product ecosystems. Of course, this is only the gross benefit from diversification, which thus has to be balanced with the associated costs, for example in terms of transaction costs.

2.2. Competitive effects of digital conglomerates

After having reviewed the firms' possible motivations for conglomerate diversification, we now turn to the pro- and anti-competitive effects of conglomerates. In the EU, conglomerate mergers are analysed with a positive prior and, generally, are not considered to lead to competitive problems.43 The only major concern mentioned in the Commission Guidelines arises in case of tying and bundling. Neven (2007) explains why contingent sales (i.e., bundling, tying or full-line forcing)⁴⁴ should be the only major concerns of conglomerate mergers. He also argues that the presence of economies of scale and scope (for suppliers or buyers) should represent a minor concern because economies of scale and scope make the merging parties more efficient (which is procompetitive), while any potential harm to competition could only arise in the unlikely event that the competitor exits the market.45 His views are reflected in the practice of competition authorities, which generally do not consider economies of scale and scope as anticompetitive.⁴⁶ However, the specific characteristics of the digital industries may change the effects of conglomerate diversification and affect the balance between pro- and anti-competitive effects, possibly

⁴³ Commission Guidelines on Non-Horizontal Mergers, para 92; Case T-5/02 *Tetra Laval v. Commission*, ECLI:EU:T:2002:264, para 155. Similarly in the U.S., today antitrust authorities consider that conglomerates mergers do not raise any specific antitrust concerns *per se*.

⁴⁴ Full-line forcing occurs in a vertical chain when an upstream manufacturer forces a distributor to carry the full range of products in its product line. It is equivalent to bundling, but in a vertical relationship context.

⁴⁵ As explained by Motta and Vasconcelos (2005).

⁴⁶ Neven (2007) also mentions two other minor concerns: (i) spillovers benefits from strong to weak brands in neighboring markets and (ii) residual substitution and potential competition between products in neighboring markets.

requiring a change in the current positive prior.

In what follows, we discuss the potential anticompetition effects of digital conglomerates. First, we analyse bundling strategies in the context of product ecosystems and platform markets. Second, we argue that economies of scope in product development could allow a firm to foreclose competition, in particular by making strategies of product proliferation less costly and through the control of essential inputs. Third, we discuss the possibility for digital platforms to act as gatekeepers and the potential impact on market outcomes and welfare. Fourth, and finally, we argue that the possibility of pre-emptive motives should be considered when assessing conglomerate mergers, and in particular the possibility of "killer acquisitions". However, those anti-competitive effects should always be balanced with the pro-competitive effects of digital conglomerates.

2.2.1. Bundling, product ecosystems and envelopment

(i) Bundling and product ecosystems

Bundling or tying is often motivated by efficiency gains, on the demand side (e.g., due to lower search costs for consumers) or on the supply side (e.g., due to lower transaction costs for firms). However, there may also be more strategic motivations for bundling. In particular, there is the concern that bundling or tying can allow a firm to foreclose rivals. For a long time, the view of the Chicago school prevailed, according to which bundling to foreclose competition cannot be a profitable strategy. However, the argument brought forth by the Chicago School relied on specific assumptions, in particular that the tied product market is perfectly competitive. Whinston (1990) first showed that bundling can be a profitable entry deterrence strategy when the tied markets are differentiated, and his contribution was followed by many others.47

Raising entry barriers for innovating entrants

Since our main focus is on the effects of conglomerates on product innovation, via economies of scope in

product development or ecosystem linkage, the relevant question in our context is the potential impact of bundling or tying on innovation. Choi and Stefanadis (2001) show that bundling may negatively affect innovation by making innovative entry more difficult to achieve in markets for system goods. They study a model where an incumbent firm has ex-ante a monopoly in two product markets. The two products are perfect complements and constitute a system good. The incumbent faces potential entry in both product markets. In each market, a potential entrant can enter only if its product R&D project succeeds; if it does, the entrant introduces a rival product with a lower marginal cost than the incumbent. Before the entrants make their R&D investments, the incumbent can decide to bundle its two complementary products. If it does so, each entrant now needs the other entrant to succeed in R&D to be able to enter the market, since consumers consume system goods only, not individual goods. Intuitively, this reduces the profitability of entry, and hence the R&D investments of entrants and the probability of entry.

In a similar vein, Carlton and Waldman (2001) study a model where an incumbent firm faces potential entry in a primary market and a market for a complementary good. They show that tying allows the incumbent to preserve its monopoly position in the primary market and to extend its monopoly into the market for the complementary good. The idea is that tying reduces the potential demand for the complementary good of the competitor, and with fixed costs of entry, deters entry. Since the entrant has an incentive to enter the primary market to stimulate the sales of its complementary product, tying also deters entry into the primary market.

Choi (2004) highlights another mechanism through which bundling by an incumbent firm can reduce R&D by entrants: he shows that bundling can serve as a commitment to be more aggressive in R&D, making potential entrants less aggressive as a consequence. More specifically, Choi analyses the impact of bundling or tying on R&D investments of a multi-product incumbent and a rival firm. The

⁴⁷ Our objective here is not to review the broad economic literature on bundling and tying. For comprehensive overviews, see for example Church (2004), Carlton and Waldman (2005) and Neven (2007).

incumbent has a monopoly in one product market and faces a rival in another product market. In a first stage, the incumbent can decide to bundle its two products together. Then, in a second stage, the incumbent and the entrant engage in cost-reducing R&D. Finally, in a third stage, they compete in prices. With bundling, the incumbent commits to be more aggressive in R&D investments. Indeed, Choi shows that bundling increases the R&D investment by the incumbent and decreases the R&D investment by the rival. Therefore, the incumbent obtains lower costs than its rival after the R&D stage. Bundling is then profitable for the incumbent if the gains due to the cost advantage obtained through R&D exceed the losses due to intensified price competition.

This research on bundling and innovation shows that bundling practices, which are common among digital players, may negatively affect the ability of potential entrants to innovate and enter the market through product innovation. In a recent interview, Jean Tirole develops a view along these lines, explaining that "[b]undling practices by the tech giants are also of concern. A start up that may become an efficient competitor to such firms generally enters within a market niche; it's very hard to enter all segments at the same time. Therefore, bundling may prevent efficient entrants from entering market segments and collectively challenging the incumbent on the overall technology."⁴⁸

• Softening competition and increasing market power with increased differentiation

Another question raised by our discussion of consumption synergies and product ecosystems is what could be the potential effects of the development of such product ecosystems on competitive outcomes.

Chen and Rey (2018) show that consumption synergies can increase the differentiation of product lines between multi-product firms (which result from mergers in their paper) and their rivals. Chen and Rey propose a model with two independent product markets and Bertrand competition pre-merger. A conglomerate merger generates consumption synergies when the consumers buy the two independent products from the merged entity, due to the benefits of one-stop shopping. These consumption synergies are heterogeneous across consumers. The merger has two effects on equilibrium prices. First, the merger softens price competition, because it creates a differentiation between the product portfolios of the firms: the merged entity's bundle is perceived as high quality due the consumption synergies, whereas the independent products are perceived by comparison as low guality. Second, as the two independent products are perceived as complements by consumers after the merger, and this is not internalized by the independent firms, they tend to set their prices too high, which benefits the merged entity and harms the independent firms. Because of these price effects, with pure bundling, the merger decreases consumer surplus.

Therefore, when there are potential consumption synergies or product ecosystem linkage, a conglomerate merger may have adverse effects on consumer surplus by inflating prices through increased differentiation (though the harm from higher prices should be balanced with the benefits from increased differentiation). It is worth noting that these effects may arise even if the firms do not bundle their products: to the extent that ecosystem linkage creates value for consumers when they buy the different ecosystem products together, the ecosystem firm is perceived by consumers as vertically differentiated from category firms, which relaxes price competition.

⁴⁸ Jean Tirole, *Federal Reserve Bank of Richmond: Econ Focus*, Fourth Quarter 2017, available at <u>www.richmondfed.org/-/media/richmondfedorg/publications/</u> research/econ_focus/2017/q4/interview.pdf. Also Jean Tirole, Regulating the Disrupters, 1 January 2019, available at <u>www.livemint.com/Technology/Xs-gWUgy9tR4uaoME7xt1Tl/Regulating-the-disrupters-Jean-Tirole.html</u>: *"New entrants into online markets often begin with a niche product; if it proves success-ful, they expand to offer a much wider range of products and services. Google began with only its search engine before it became the company we know to-*

day; Amazon started by selling books. So what matters is whether new entrants can access the market in the first place. If a newcomer has a single original product that is better than what the incumbent offers, the incumbent might want to block it from gaining even a partial foothold in the market. The incumbent will do so not to improve its short-term profits, but to prevent the newcomer from later competing in areas where the incumbent occupies a monopoly position, or to stop the newcomer from allying with the dominant firm's competitors."

(ii) Digital platforms and envelopment

Big-tech companies often act as intermediaries, platforms or marketplaces. In addition to significant economies of scale and scope in product development and production, their dominance over their respective markets can thus also be explained by the fact that the products and services that they deliver to consumers exhibit significant network effects, which represent another source of increasing returns to scale.

In particular, big-tech companies have adopted the multi-sided platform business model for some of their products and services.⁴⁹ As multi-sided platforms, they act as intermediaries between different distinct groups of users, and the value of joining the platform for a given group is influenced by the participation of users in the other groups (i.e., there are indirect network effects). But we could adopt a broader definition of a platform as a product or service characterized by strong direct and/or indirect network effects, and not necessarily multi-sided.⁵⁰ For example, a platform such as Spotify is not strictly speaking multi-sided, but with a larger number of users, it can collect larger amounts of data and improve its algorithms, which leads to a higher quality of service. In turn, this makes the service more attractive to users - we can thus say that the value of the service for a given consumer increases (indirectly) with the number of users, via the improvement of algorithms.⁵¹

Platforms may have various incentives to expand into new markets. One possible motivation is what Eisenmann et al. (2001) call "platform envelopment". According to the authors, "envelopment" occurs when a dominant platform enters a new market pioneered by an entrant platform and forecloses the new entrant. Overlapping user bases between the dominant platform's primary market and the new market and shared components or modules between the two products, make entry into the new market feasible for the dominant firm. First, the dominant platform can leverage its customer base from its primary market to the new market, and thus benefit from significant network effects when it enters the new market; these network effects can be of much larger magnitude than those enjoyed by the entrant. In addition, because of shared components or modules, operating the two platforms together may entail significant economies of scope. In Eisenmann et al. (2001)'s framework, platform envelopment corresponds to pure bundling: the dominant platform bundles its existing platform service with a new platform service similar to the platform that it wishes to envelop.52 Through pure bundling, the attacking platform can then foreclose the rival platform in the target market. When the dominant's platform and the target's platform are weak substitutes or unrelated, Eisenmann et al. (2001) argue that significant economies of scope are a pre-condition for envelopment by bundling to succeed.

In digital markets, when platforms have acquired a large customer base in a first market, they may adopt an envelopment strategy to expand. For example, once successful in the taxi business, Uber expanded to the food delivery business with Uber Eats, leveraging its user base of Uber drivers and taking advantage of shared components (software, etc.).

However, the potential competitive harm from envelopment is mitigated if consumers can multihome: in this case, even if the incumbent platform bundles its primary service with the new service, there might still be room for the rival platform. Choi (2010) proposes a model which shows that this intuition does not always hold and that even with multi-homing, envelopment (or bundling) can harm competition. More specifically, Choi studies the effects of bundling in a model where two horizontally differentiated twosided platforms compete for consumers and content providers, and both types of participants can multi-

⁴⁹ See Armstrong (2006), Caillaud and Jullien (2003) and Rochet and Tirole (2003 and 2006). Generally, Belleflamme and Peitz (2015).

⁵⁰ Direct network effects arise when the value of the product for a consumer increases (directly) with the number of users. Indirect network effects arise when the value of the product increases with the number of complementary products, which is itself influenced by the number users -- and thus, the value of the product increases (indirectly) with the number of users.

⁵¹ Lerner (2014).

⁵² Eisenmann et al. (2001) give the example of Microsoft, which bundled Windows Media Player with Windows operating system to enter in the late 1990's the market of media players, then dominated by the platform Real of Real Networks.

home. When consumers multi-home, Choi assumes that they perceive a certain degree of redundancy or duplication between the two platforms, which is assumed exogenous. In other words, each platform has some exclusive content for the consumers and the value from multi-homing comes from access to the exclusive content of the additional platform.

One platform, the incumbent platform, also offers to the consumers a good that is essential (necessary) to use any platform.⁵³ The incumbent has monopoly over the provision of this good, which it can tie with its platform product for consumers. If consumers could not multi-home, tying would immediately lead to tipping and lock-in: the incumbent's platform would attract all consumers and the entrant platform would have no room to enter the market. The possibility of multi-homing thus limits *a priori* the ability of the incumbent to win the market.

When multi-homing is possible for consumers, Choi shows that tying leads more consumers to multihome (i.e., to join both competing platforms). This is because, when the incumbent ties its essential and platform goods, some consumers, who would not have chosen the incumbent's platform without tying (i.e., who would have single-homed to the rival's platform) now multi-home. On top of that, the entrant platform reacts to tying by lowering its price, which expands its reach. Tying is profitable for the incumbent platform, but harms the rival platform. Hence, the incumbent can obtain a competitive advantage via tying. In addition, Choi shows that tying decreases consumer welfare.54 Therefore, even if consumers multi-home, platform envelopment or bundling can allow an incumbent platform to gain a competitive advantage over rival platforms. This happens if the incumbent offers a good that is (sufficiently) essential to consumers, as shown by Choi (2010). One could argue that some core services of digital conglomerates have this feature.

However, bundling may also have efficiency effects in multi-sided markets, as highlighted by Amelio and Jullien (2012). The authors study a model where a two-sided platform would like to set negative prices on one side of the market to attract a large number of users on this side, which are extremely valuable to the other side, but where the platform is constrained in setting non-negative prices.⁵⁵ Amelio and Jullien show that tying the platform's service with a good that is valuable to the side to be subsidized allows the platform to implement implicit subsidies for the platform's service, which is a profitable strategy for the platform and can also in some cases benefit consumers.

With a monopoly platform, Amelio and Jullien show that mixed bundling (whereby the platform offers both a bundle of the tied good and the platform service, as well as the tied good alone) increases participation on both sides of the platform and thus increases consumer surplus, compared to a benchmark situation without bundling.

In a duopoly context, however, tying also has strategic effects. More precisely, Amelio and Jullien show that increasing the implicit subsidy via bundling has two different effects on the market outcome. On the one hand, since bundling allows the implementation of implicit subsidies, the incumbent platform that offers a mixed bundle attracts more users on the subsidized side that the rival platform (which cannot use implicit subsidies). On the other hand, the implicit subsidy represents an opportunity cost for the incumbent platform on the profitable side: by attracting users on the profitable side, the platform also encourages users on the subsidized side to join, due to the cross-group network effects, but these subsidized users come at a loss for the platform due to the implicit subsidy. Because of this opportunity cost, tying on one side (the subsidized side) may soften competition on the other side (the profitable side). From a consumer point of view, consumers on the subsidized side

⁵³ In the motivating example proposed by Choi (2010), the platforms are media players and the essential good is the operating system necessary to run any media player (e.g., Windows).

⁵⁴ Multi-homing makes consumers more homogeneous, and therefore facilitates consumer surplus extraction by the incumbent platform, which offers the essen-

tial good. Since multi-homing increases with tying, consumer surplus is reduced. However, at the same time, total welfare increases with tying.

⁵⁵ Setting negative prices may also lead to opportunistic behaviour from consumers, constraining the platform to set non-negative prices.

always benefit from tying, whereas consumers on the profitable side may either benefit or be harmed. The overall effect of tying on total consumer surplus then depends on the relative levels of cross-group network effects between the two sides.⁵⁶ If crossgroup network effects are symmetric between sides, total consumer surplus decreases with tying. By contrast, if subsidized consumers do not value the participation of users on the other side, consumer surplus increases on both sides.

From a policy point of view, the main take-away from the paper of Amelio and Jullien is that tying by a platform can have efficiency effects which are due to its specific two-sided nature, but it should be assessed on case-by-case basis.

To sum up, the economic literature on envelopment and bundling suggests that when a platform is dominant in one market, it may have the ability to leverage its network effects and take advantage of economies of scope to enter into new platform markets. Bundling in platform markets may have both efficiency effects (e.g., due to the possibility to implement implicit subsidies) and anti-competitive effects. One could also argue that, due to the network and feedback effects in platform markets, the efficiency and anticompetitive effects of bundling are amplified.

2.2.2. Economies of scope, product proliferation and essential components

As we discussed above, economies of scope in product development allow digital companies to create new products with low development costs, using sharable resources or components from other products.

A dominant firm could use this flexibility in product development to enter all the market niches where it faces an entry threat. This type of entry deterrence strategy, which is often called product proliferation, was first analysed by Schmalensee (1978). He adopts the circular city model and shows that in the presence of an entry threat, an incumbent firm may introduce a larger number of varieties than it would otherwise, in order to deter entry.⁵⁷ However, this is a costly strategy: the incumbent firm has to develop as many products as there are market niches in order to deter entry. But, with economies of scope in product development, the incumbent could develop a basic product and then as many product variants as necessary to deter entry from competitors, which makes the product proliferation strategy less costly to implement.

Amazon's entry into product categories (Zhu and Liu, 2018) may possibly be seen as a product proliferation strategy. Wen and Zhu (2017) provide empirical evidence on how potential competitors react to this type of strategy. They study the impact of Google's entry threat on the Android app store, on the innovation and pricing strategies of independent app developers.⁵⁸ They show that when faced with an entry threat from Google in their market niche, independent app developers react by reducing their innovation efforts and increasing their prices. The evidence suggests that this is because developers switch their resources to unaffected areas (i.e., to other apps).

A second concern is that a dominant firm may have control over a basic product or a basic component, which is essential to obtain economies in scope in product development, and then develop new, related or unrelated, products. To the extent that it is not economically feasible for competitors to replicate the basic product or component, the dominant firm may have a strong competitive advantage over its competitors for the expansion of its product line and the creation of product ecosystems. In other words, some basic products or components may be essential facilities for product development.

⁵⁸ To identify Google's entry threat, they use the fact that Google very often follow Apple's introduction of new apps, and therefore Apple's entry in a new app niche is supposed to generate an entry threat from Google on the Android app store.

⁵⁶ In their model, total welfare increases if network effects are strong enough.

⁵⁷ Note that product proliferation involves both efficiency effects (as it increases variety for consumers) and anti-competitive effects (since it aims at deterring entry of competitors).

One could argue that data could constitute such an essential component. As we discussed above, data can be collected from usage of a basic primary product, and then used to evaluate consumer demand for new products (the Amazon example), to train algorithms implemented into new products (think of digital personal assistants), to customise products to consumer needs, etc. In other words, to the extent that product innovation is data-driven (Prufer and Schottmüller, 2017), data may constitute an essential component for product innovation. We might then be concerned that through the control of this essential component, a dominant firm may be able to foreclose competition.

2.2.3. Digital platforms as gatekeepers

Some argue that online firms derive their market power from their position as "gatekeepers".59 A loose definition of a gatekeeper would be that it is an economic agent that can control access by a group of users to some goods or another group of users.

To be more precise, we can distinguish two different types of situation. In the first situation, the gatekeeper controls access by third-party firms to its users. For example, an online social network such as Facebook has, to some extent, control over access to its users by online advertisers, in particular for the consumers who spend most of their time on the social network. In the second situation, the gatekeeper controls access to content, products and/or services. For example, Google Search controls access of users to Web content via its ranking algorithm, Spotify controls access to its large catalogue of music titles through its personalized recommendations, etc. We discuss below the economic implications for each type of gatekeeper.

(i) Gatekeepers for access to users

When there is a potential bottleneck for access to users (for advertisers, sellers, etc.), a digital platform may have an incentive to expand into new markets to broaden the engagement of its customers with a larger line of products and services. By providing a wide array of products and services, the firm can lock in its customers into its product ecosystem. To the extent that the firm monetizes its customers to third-parties in some way (e.g., their attention to advertisers, their data to data brokers, etc.), the firm can become a gatekeeper for access to its customers.60

Wu (2018) argues that digital companies such as Facebook or Google are best described as attention brokers. They offer products and/or services to consumers to capture their attention and then resell consumer attention to attention seekers, and in particular online advertisers. He argues that antitrust authorities should take into account these attentional markets when they assess competition in digital markets, in particular for merger review.⁶¹

Pratt and Valletti (2018) propose a framework that formalizes some of these ideas and highlight an economic mechanism through which gatekeepers can be harmful for consumers. They develop a theoretical model where consumers can join various online advertiser-supported platforms. Each consumer uses a subset of these platforms (i.e., multi-homes). There is also an incumbent producer and an entrant producer that compete to sell a product to consumers. They advertise their products on the various platforms and it is assumed that each platform displays one targeted ad, and only one, to each consumer. The consumers know the incumbent's product, but are not aware of the entrant's product. The only way for the entrant producer to enter the market is thus to advertise on platforms to inform consumers of its existence. Consumers benefit from becoming aware of the entrant's product, which provides them with a higher utility than the incumbent's product, and this increases total surplus too. However, entry reduces the profit of the incumbent producer. Each platform runs a second-price auction for each one of its users. The winner, which is either the incumbent or the entrant producer, displays a targeted advertisement to that user. Therefore, for a given user, there are as many advertising auctions as the number of platforms she engages with.

⁵⁹ See, for example, the policy papers by Lim (2017) and Lynskey (2018).

⁶¹ On the economics of attention markets, see also Evans (2017).

⁶⁰ See, e.g., Lim (2017).

Prat and Valletti show that in this environment, the probability that a consumer eventually becomes aware of the entrant's product depends on the number of platforms she engages with. If the consumer uses only a few platforms, in equilibrium all ads displayed to the consumer come from the incumbent producer and the consumer does not become aware of the entrant's product. Conversely, if the consumer uses a high number of platforms, the entrant displays at least one ad to the consumer, who then buys its product rather than the incumbent's product. The idea behind this result is that the incumbent producer has an incentive to deter entry of its rival in the product market, because entry reduces its profit. To deter entry, the incumbent has to win all advertising auctions on every platform where the consumer participates, in order to keep the consumer unware of the rival's product. Intuitively, the cost of this entry deterrence strategy increases with the number of platforms where the consumer participates, which explains the result.

Under some assumptions, Prat and Valletti further show that the aggregate consumer surplus is decreasing with platform concentration. With this result in mind, this framework suggests that a merger between online platforms is going to reduce consumer welfare if it leads to a concentration of consumers' attention among a fewer number of platforms.

From a policy point of view, two main lessons can be derived from the analysis of Prat and Valletti. First, their analysis suggests that in order to assess the competition in online platform markets, one should take into consideration its impact on product markets through online advertising. Second, whether concentrated platform markets induce concentrated product markets will depend on the overlap of customer bases, and thus in particular on whether consumers multi-home. If they do, the type of strategy that they highlight is likely to disappear.

(ii) Gatekeepers for access to products and services

A second type of situation where digital platforms can act as gatekeepers occurs when platforms have control over the consumption of content, products, or services by their users. To the extent that consumers do not have any other alternative, gatekeepers may have the ability to steer consumers towards products or services that are not the best match for them. One incentive to do so would be, for example, to steer consumers towards offers that generate higher profits for the platform. Another incentive would be to favour in-house offers (e.g., in-house content for a content platform).

The economic literature has investigated the incentives of a platform to steer its consumers towards some offers and away from others. Hagiu and Jullien (2011, 2014) develop a general framework where an intermediary platform acts as a gatekeeper for consumers to access differentiated products.⁶² The platform has the ability to divert consumers towards their least preferred product, which may be profitable for the platform to do, if this product generates larger revenues. They show that the intermediary faces a trade-off when biasing its recommendations to consumers between higher revenues and lower participation and activity on the platform. Competition may be a remedy, but only to the extent that competition is very intense. A low level of competition may actually reinforce the intermediaries' incentives to steer. This is because, due to the competitive pressure, competing platforms are less able to gain from increased consumer participation, compared to a monopoly platform.

The ability of a platform to steer its consumers on one side of its market may also affect its relationship with the other sides. For example, Bourreau and Gaudin (2018) study the music streaming market and show with a theoretical model that a streaming platform such as Spotify could use its recommendation system strategically to intensify competition between content

⁶² See also de Cornières and Taylor (2014), who analyze the impact of vertical integration on steering.

providers, by threatening content providers that consumers would be steered away from their content if they charge high royalties. Hunold et al. (2018) provide empirical evidence of this type of strategy for the online travel agency (OTA) market. They show that OTAs manipulate search results to discipline hotels and discourage them from setting low(er) prices on competing channels.

To sum up, by expanding its range of products and services, a digital firm can achieve the position of gatekeeper, for access to its customer base by third parties, such as advertisers or sellers, or for access to its portfolio of products or services. If consumers mainly use the gatekeeper's ecosystem of products and services (i.e, single-home), the gatekeeping position provides market power to the firm, for example for setting the conditions of access to third parties.

2.2.4. Pre-emptive acquisitions and kill zone

Lim (2017) argues that pre-emption of potential competitors is one of the main motivations for diversification in the digital economy. Indeed, we observe high numbers of acquisitions of promising start-ups by digital conglomerates. Over the last ten years, the Big Five tech giants – Alphabet, Amazon, Apple, Facebook and Microsoft – have made more than 430 acquisitions.⁶³ As we mentioned above, for the year 2017 alone, they bought start-ups for a total amount of \$31.6bn. The question is how many among these acquisitions (if any) were motivated by pre-emption motives.

Business analysts recognize the existence of a preemption threat to new ventures. They speak of a "kill zone",⁶⁴ where start-ups cannot flourish, that is, a range of products or services where incumbent digital players are likely to dominate, either by acquiring their potential rivals or by reacting aggressively to entry by launching competing products or services.65 Consequently, the argument goes, potential entrants are unlikely to obtain funding if they develop products in the kill zone. Different factors are said to favour the persistence of a kill zone:66 (i) big-tech companies can collect large amounts of data that allow them to predict new trends, (ii) they can also obtain such information from their investments in start-ups, and finally (iii) many platform markets have tipped (e.g., search engines, social networks, etc.), leaving little room for potential entrants. In the end, according to this reasoning, a new entrant that wishes to grow as an independent company should avoid the kill zone, even if it has a superior technology. Note, however, that if a new entrant's objective is to be bought by a big firm eventually, it may have the opposite incentive to position its products in the kill zone.

Cunningham, Ederer and Ma (2018) propose and test a theory according to which incumbent firms pre-empt innovating firms that threaten their market positions, and terminate the development of their innovative projects, which they refer to as "killer acquisitions". In their theoretical model, an incumbent firm can acquire a potential competitor at an early stage where the competitor's innovative project is still under development. To the extent that the new project substitutes for an existing product of the incumbent, after it has acquired its rival, the incumbent has fewer incentives to continue developing the project than the rival firm would have had. This is due to the "replacement effect" first outlined by Arrow (1962), according to which a monopolist has less incentive to innovate than firms under competition. The incumbent may therefore decide to shut down the project after the acquisition. At the same time, competition in the product market reduces the ex-ante profit of the incumbent, which reduces the replacement effect and thus the prevalence of killer acquisitions.

⁶³ Asher Schechter, "Google and Facebook's "Kill Zone": "We've Taken the Focus Off of Rewarding Genius and Innovation to Rewarding Capital and Scale"", 25 May 2018, ProMarket, available at <u>www.promarket.org/google-facebooks-</u> kill-zone-weve-taken-focus-off-rewarding-genius-innovation-rewarding-capitalscale/.

⁶⁴ See Schechter (2018), *op. cit.*, and "American tech giants are making life tough for start-ups", *The Economist*, 26 October 2018.

⁶⁵ For example, after Snapchat turned down Facebook's acquisition offer for \$3bn, Facebook imitated some of Snapchat's key features as explained by Schechter.

⁶⁶ "American tech giants are making life tough for start-ups", *The Economist*, 26/10/2018.

Cunningham et al. (2018) use data on 35,000 drug projects conducted by more than 6,700 pharmaceutical companies in the past two and half decades. They find evidence that incumbents terminate projects from acquired companies when they cannibalize their existing products: when this is the case, a project is 39.6% less likely to be continued after the acquisition compared to drugs that are not acquired (controlling for various factors that could influence the decision to continue the project). Overall, they estimate that 6.4% of the acquisitions in their sample are killer acquisitions.

The empirical part of the study of Cunningham et al. (2018) applies to the pharmaceutical industry, and it would be clearly interesting and valuable to undertake the same type of analysis for the digital sector. Note, however, that due to the presence of network effects, the competitive threat from new ventures may be different in the digital sector than it is in the pharmaceutical industry. If we believe that "competition is just one click away",67 an incumbent may face the risk of being totally displaced by an entrant if consumers all switch to the new rival, thereby increasing pre-emption incentives. Conversely, if consumers face large switching costs due to network effects and coordination problems, the competition threat faced by established firms will be mild, and hence also the incentives to pre-empt.

The question of whether an incumbent buying out an entrant is going to shut down the entrant's project (leading to a killer acquisition) is analysed by the recent strand of economic literature on mergers and innovation. Federico, Langus and Valletti (2018) and Denicolò and Polo (2018) study mergers between firms that have competing projects at the development stage before the merger (e.g., the development of a similar drug), and look at the impact of a merger on firms' R&D efforts. In particular, Denicolò and Polo (2018) analyse the incentive of the merging firms to stop one of the projects after the merger, to avoid cannibalisation between their projects. They show that the shape of the probability of success as a function of R&D efforts determines whether the merged entity keeps the two research units active, or conversely, shuts down one of the units. Note that in this framework, the firm closes one research unit, not for pre-emptive motives, but for reasons that pertain to the efficiency of R&D.

The debate around killer acquisitions and the kill zone takes the view that some of the acquisitions are motivated by pre-emptive motives. However, one could take the other view that the acquisition of start-ups by larger firms is efficient and benefits both parties: the start-ups bring innovative ideas and skills, and the large firms bring the complementary skills and resources necessary to develop these ideas commercially. The literature on commercialisation strategies analyses this trade-off for an innovator between selling her innovation and commercialising it herself.68 Teece (1986) states that the extent to which complementary assets (such as marketing or aftersales support) are needed for the commercialisation of an innovation is an important determinant of whether the innovator commercialises her invention. Gans and Stern (2003) further argue that if no competitor has control of complementary assets, integrated structures-where the innovators commercialise their own inventions-are more likely to emerge. By contrast, if established firms control complementary assets,⁶⁹ hybrid forms of organisation are more likely to emerge, and we can also expect that innovators are more likely to be acquired by incumbents.

To sum up, the acquisition of promising start-ups by large digital firms can be driven by efficiency motives, the large firms bringing skills and resources that are complementary to the innovation developed by the start-ups. These acquisitions could also be driven by pre-emptive motives, possibly leading to killer acquisitions, to the detriment of innovation. It does not seem reasonable to consider that all mergers and

 ⁶⁷ See, e.g., <u>www.forbes.com/sites/davidwismer/2012/10/14/googles-larry-page-competition-is-one-click-away-and-other-quotes-of-the-week/#105c04a65ea1.
 ⁶⁸ For example, see Teece (1986 and 2006) and Gans and Stern (2003 and 2010).
</u>

⁶⁹ Note that these complementary assets controlled by incumbents could be the essential components that we discussed above.

acquisitions are pre-emptive; but at the same time, it does not seem reasonable either to rule out this possibility entirely. We thus believe that competition authorities should consider the possibility of preemptive motives when dealing with mergers and acquisitions in the digital sector, in particular for innovative start-ups.

2.3. Interim conclusion

In this section, we first discussed the firms' motivations that may explain the rise of digital conglomerates. Looking back at the industrial organization literature on the conglomerate mergers of the 1960s and 1970s, we have concluded that three classical views on conglomerate mergers from this literature might be useful to understand the emergence of digital conglomerates: the market power view, according to which firms that expand in weakly related markets can increase their market power indirectly; the resource view, according to which firms expand to exploit excess capacity in key, firm-specific resources; and the internal financial market view, which states that a conglomerate allows the creation of an internal financial market that can be more efficient than external capital markets.

We argued that two key characteristics of the digital economy are also useful to understand the rise of digital conglomerates. First, digital products and services involve a modular design, which generates strong economies of scope in product development, and allows firms to create variants from basic products for relatively low development costs. Second, the joint consumption of digital products from the same product ecosystem may generate consumption synergies for consumers. Firms thus have an incentive to expand to create product ecosystems and generate consumption synergies, which they can then capture through higher prices. Finally, we discussed four types of competitive concerns that may arise with digital conglomerates. First, supply-side synergies (economies of scope in product development) and demand-side synergies (consumption synergies) facilitate bundlina strategies, which may have both efficiency effects (e.g., because they generate consumption synergies) and anti-competitive effects, in particular when they make entry by innovating entrants more difficult. Second, the firms controlling essential components (e.g., unique data on consumers) may have a competitive edge over potential rivals in diversifying into new product markets. Third, firms that develop as multi-product, conglomerate entities may achieve a position where they become gatekeepers for access to their consumers by third-party firms (e.g., advertisers, data brokers, sellers, etc.), giving them strong market power over these third parties. Fourth, and finally, dominant firms may decide to expand into new markets through the acquisition of promising start ups. These acquisitions may be efficient in some cases, since large firms may bring complementary skills and resources, which allow smaller firms to develop their innovations. They could also, in some cases, be driven by pre-emptive motives and be harmful to competition and innovation, in particular if after the acquisition, the innovative projects are shut down (killer acquisitions).

3. RECOMMENDATIONS TO ADAPT EU COMPETITION METHODOLOGIES AND ENFORCEMENT

After having discussed the main firms' motivations and the competitive effects of digital conglomerates, we now turn to the implications for competition policy. As noted by Commissioner Vestager, antitrust provisions are sufficiently flexible to accommodate the digital revolution as they have already adapted to several Industrial Revolutions in the past. ⁷⁰ Nevertheless, the methodologies to enforce those flexible provisions need to reflect the characteristics and the dynamics of the digital markets and require some adaptations that we propose in this section.

3.1. Applying antitrust in dynamic markets: Ensuring market contestability

Given the importance of innovation in the digital sector, and more generally as the basis for economic growth,⁷¹ the three main types of efficiencies (static allocative, static productive and dynamic) need to be rebalanced within the consumer welfare standard. As explained by Porter (2002), the traditional view of antitrust goals gives the highest importance to

allocative efficiency and price effects, then productive efficiency and finally the dynamic efficiency. Porter suggests reversing this order and giving the highest importance to dynamic efficiency as illustrated in **Figure 1** below. Similarly, Teece (2009:238-240) explains that dynamic competition - which is more a process relying on innovation - should be favoured over its poorer cousin, static competition - which is more an outcome manifesting itself in the form of existing products offered at low prices.⁷²



⁷⁰ Competition in a big data world, Speech at DLD Munich, 17 January 2016, available at <u>www.ec.europa.eu/commission/commissioners/2014-2019/vesta-</u> ger/announcements/competition-big-data-world en

⁷¹ Porter (1998).

⁷² Also in this sense de Biil and Peitz (2002).

To protect dynamic efficiency and innovation, Tirole suggests keeping markets contestable and contested.73 Kerber (2018) and Teece (2009) suggest that antitrust authorities should move their attention from existing products and current firms' rivalry to next products, potential competition and future rivalry. Given the importance of capabilities for innovation and the economies of scope in product development explained above, antitrust authorities should focus in particular on barriers to innovation capabilities as suggested by Kerber and Kern (2014) or on entrepreneurial assets as put forward by Petit (2016). Those innovation capabilities depend on innovation paths that, in turn, vary across sectors. Therefore, as explained by Kerber and Kern (2014) and by Porter (2002), antitrust authorities should adapt their methodologies to the characteristics of each industry sector.

3.2. Determination of market power

(i) Current law and practice

Traditionally, the determination of market power is done in two steps which are closely related.⁷⁴ First, the product market is defined mainly on the basis of demand substitution between existing products and, in a subsidiary way, on the basis of supply substitution when new suppliers can enter in the short term without entailing a significant adjustment of existing tangible and intangible assets.⁷⁵ Then, the market power is determined mainly on the basis of the current market position of the firms and the barriers to entry and expansion and, when relevant, the countervailing buyer power.⁷⁶ In general, competition authorities tend to give more weight to the static indicators (the demand-side substitution in market definition and the current position of the firms in market power determination) than to the dynamic indicators (the supply-side substitution and the barriers to entry). This is because the former can be assessed with more certainty and better fit the static model of competition on which antitrust methodologies are largely based.

To be sure, more dynamic criteria have been designed for innovative sectors. Regarding market definition, the Commission has developed the concepts of competition in innovation which refers to R&D poles which may compete between each other depending on the 'the nature, scope and size of any other R&D efforts, their access to financial and human resources, know-how/patents, or other specialised assets as well as their timing and their capability to exploit possible results.' 77 The Commission observes that R&D poles may be identified when the process of innovation is well structured, like in the pharmaceutical industry, but that the concept will normally not be used when the process of innovation is not clearly structured. In Dow/DuPont, the Commission also defined innovation space which is 'not a market on its own, but an input activity for both the upstream technology markets and the downstream products markets.'78 With those concepts, the first step to determine market power is moving upstream from existing products/output to the

⁷³ "Regulating the Disruptors", available at <u>www.livemint.com/Technology/Xs-gWUgy9tR4uaoME7xt1Tl/Regulating-the-disrupters-Jean-Tirole.html</u>

⁷⁴ In some circumstances, the first step of defining market is by-passed. For instance, in an essential facility case, the competition authority focuses on the assessment of the conditions for essential facility, largely downplaying the role of market definition. Thus in *Bronner*, which is one of the main essential facility cases, the Court of Justice left the Austrian Court to define the relevant market but conclude already that the postal delivery network controlled by MediaPrint was not an essential facility, rendering useless the market definition: Case C-7-97 *Bronner v. MediaPrint*, ECLI:EU:C:1998:569.

⁷⁵ Commission Notice on the definition of the relevant market for the purposes of Community competition law O.J. [1997] C 372/5, paras 13-23.

⁷⁶ Guidance of 3 December 2008 on the Commission's Enforcement Priorities in Applying Article (102 TFEU) to Abusive Exclusionary Conduct by Dominant Undertakings O.J. [2009] C 45/7, paras 12-18.

⁷⁷ Commission Guidelines of 14 December 2010 on the applicability of Article 101 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union to horizontal co-operation agreements, O.J. [2010] C 11/1, para 119-122 and Communication Guidelines of 21 March 2014 on the application of Article 101 of the Treaty on the Functioning of the European Union to technology transfer agreements O.J. [2014] C 89/3, para 26. The Commission has also developed the concept of *technology market* which consists of "the licensed technology rights and its substitutes, that is to say, other technologies which are regarded by the licensees as interchangeable with or substitutable for the licensed technology rights, by reason of the technologies' characteristics, their royalties and their intended use.": Commission Guidelines on horizontal co-operation agreements, paras 116-118 and Communication Guidelines on technology transfer agreements, para 22.

⁷⁸ Commission Decision of 27 March 2017, Case M. 7932 *Dow/DuPont*, para. 348.

capabilities/input necessary to develop and diffuse improved or totally new products.⁷⁹ Regarding the determination of market power, the Commission and the Courts have already observed that, in dynamic sectors, the level of the market shares conveys little information on the intensity of market power.⁸⁰ In those circumstances, the different types of entry barriers, in particular the barriers to innovation, are more informative.

(ii) Recommendations

In accordance with the need for more dynamic antitrust analysis, we suggest, on the one hand, to focus more on potential competition and barriers to entry when markets are defined on the basis of products/output markets and, on the other hand, to complement such analysis with the definition of capabilities/input markets.

 More focus on potential competition when markets are defined on the basis of existing products

When defining the markets on the basis of existing products,⁸¹ the competition authorities should take into account the characteristics of the digital sector, in particular the possible existence of ecosystems of products. To do that, they may rely on the methodology used for the aftermarkets or system markets.⁸² In the Market Definition Notice, the Commission explains that in the case of primary and secondary markets, the analysis of demand substitution should take into account the relationship between the primary and the secondary products. Therefore, the Commission states: 'A narrow definition of market for secondary products, for instance, spare parts, may result when compatibility with the primary product is important.

Problems of finding compatible secondary products together with the existence of high prices and a long lifetime of the primary products may render relative price increases of secondary products profitable. A different market definition may result if significant substitution between secondary products is possible or if the characteristics of the primary products make quick and direct consumer responses to relative price increases of the secondary products feasible. 83 This methodology has been applied in CEAHR where the General Court decided that: '(...) to be able to treat the primary market and the after markets jointly, possibly as a single unified market or 'system market', it must be shown (...) that a sufficient number of consumers would switch to other primary products if there were a moderate price increase for the products or services on the after markets and thus render such an increase unprofitable (...)'.84

More importantly, when assessing market power, authorities should shift their focus from existing to potential competition. Porter (2002) proposes to apply his famous five competitive forces analysis⁸⁵ to the determination of market power in antitrust. He shows that next to the current rivalry captured by market share and concentration ratio, the potential competition by new entrants offering the same product or offering substitute products is also key in understanding the intensity of competition. As put by Porter (2002:15): "by assessing competition beyond existing rivals, the need is reduced for debates on where to draw industry boundaries, or the relevant market in antitrust terms. Any definition of a market is essentially a choice of where to draw the line between established competitors and substitute products, between existing firms and potential entrants, and between existing firms and suppliers and buyers. If these influences on competition are all recognized, and their relative impact assessed, as they are in

⁷⁹ The concepts relate to innovation markets proposed in the seminal paper of Gilbert and Sunshine (1995). They also relate to the resource-based view of the firm (Barney, 1991) and the innovation theories on capabilities (Teece, 2009).

⁸⁰ Case T-79/12 Cisco and Messaget v. Commission, ECLI:EU:T:2013:635, para 69 deciding that: "recent and fast growing sector which is characterised by short innovation cycles in which large market shares may turn out to be ephemeral. In such a dynamic context, high market shares are not necessarily indicative of market power."

⁸¹ Another characteristic of the digital sector is the increased personalisation of the offers. According to the Commission, personalisation should lead to market

segmentation when it is possible to clearly identify different groups of customers and when arbitrage among the groups is not possible: Commission Notice on Market Definition, para 43.

⁸² Methodologies to define bundled markets may also be used as explained for instance in the BEREC Report of December 2010 on impact of bundled offers in retail and wholesale market definition, BoR (10) 64.

⁸³ Commission Market Definition Notice, para 56.

 ⁸⁴ Case T-427/08, Confédération européenne des associations d'horlogers-réparateurs (CEAHR) v. Commission, ECLI:EU:T:2010:517, para 105.
 ⁸⁵ Presented in Porter (1980).

five forces analysis, then where the lines are actually drawn becomes more or less irrelevant to strategy formulation and, I suggest, the antitrust analysis of competition."



• Defining and analysing innovation markets

This dynamised standard analysis based on products/ output markets should be complemented by a novel analysis based on capabilities/input markets in order to better reflect the importance, the rate and the uncertainty of innovation and the key role played by innovation capabilities. As put by Teece (2009), "when innovation is high, capabilities are more stable than products." This new approach is challenging because the characteristics of innovation capabilities and their role in product innovation are complex, in particular in industries where the innovative process is not clearly structured,⁸⁶ and varies across sectors.⁸⁷ However, as convincingly argued by Kerber and Kern (2014), there are sufficient theories and empirical studies in strategic management, evolutionary economics and innovation economics⁸⁸ to build methodologies to define innovation markets with sufficient relevance and legal certainty. As Teece (2009:255) observes: "the tools for assessing capabilities may not be well developed yet, but they are developed enough to allow tentative application. Clearly, product market analysis can be unhelpful and misleading in dynamic

⁸⁶ This is the reason why, as already mentioned, the Commission will not base its competitive analysis on R&D poles in industry where innovation efforts are not clearly structured: Commission Guidelines on the applicability of Article 101 TFEU to horizontal co-operation agreements, paras 122.

⁸⁸ But maybe not yet in mainstream industrial organisation which remain the intellectual inspiration of the evolution of competition law. For a good overview of evolutionary economics, see Nelson et al. (2018).

⁸⁷ A differentiated analysis per sector is called by Porter (2002), Kerber and Kern (2014).

contexts. Using the right concepts imperfectly is better than a precise application of the wrong ones." This new approach may be more difficult to apply in the digital sector than say in the pharma sector because the innovation process is less structured and shorter in the former than in the later. However, it is not impossible⁸⁹ and innovation markets may be defined for the main capabilities of the digital sector such as data, some type of engineering skills, high computing power and very risky capital.

When assessing market power, antitrust authorities should then focus on the barriers to accessing those key capabilities. To do that, authorities may rely on the four conditions set by Barney (1991) for a firm's resource to be a source of competitive advantage (i.e., inimitable, rare, valuable and non-substitutable).90 Regarding barriers to data, Lambrecht and Tucker (2015) have applied the four Barney conditions. However, as already mentioned, their conclusions are too general as the conditions should be assessed for specific datasets used for specific types of algorithmic applications. Regarding barriers to risky capital and skilled labour, Petit (2016:67-76) proposes a close antitrust scrutiny of the exclusivity clauses in corporate venture capital funds and of the non-compete clauses in labour contracts for high skilled staff.

In *Microsoft/LinkedIn*, the Commission analysed the role of data as a key input for different product markets but did not define specific markets for data.⁹¹ With regard to online advertising, the Commission concluded that the combination of the datasets of Microsoft and LinkedIn did not raise competitive concerns because entrants in online advertising could rely on the large amount of Internet user data that was valuable for advertising purpose and was not within the exclusive control of the merging parties, and because the merging parties were small players in online advertising, well behind Google and Facebook.⁹² With regard to CRM software solutions, the Commission also noted that LinkedIn datasets could not be considered as an important input to develop Machine Learning based CRM because other sources of data were available and already used by CRM developers.⁹³

In summary, we recommend correcting the static bias embodied in products market definition by:94 (i) shifting the competitive analysis from existing competition to potential competition and barriers to entry, and (ii) complementing this analysis with the definition of capabilities markets.95 In practice, the Commission should revise the 1997 Notice on Market Definition, which is very static, and integrate the more dynamic market definition (such as competition in innovation) of the Article 101 Guidelines on Horizontal Agreements and Technology Transfer Agreement. In this revised Notice, the Commission should also integrate the provisions on the assessment of market power, currently in the Priorities Guidance on Article 102 to ensure that the definition of the market and the determination of market power are done in an integrated and dynamic manner.

3.3. Theories of harm

3.3.1. Bundling and envelopment

(i) Current law and practice

The Commission defines (i) *tying* as a situation where customers that purchase one good (the tying good) are required to also purchase another good from the producer (the tied good) – it can take place on a *technical* or *contractual* basis –; and (ii) *bundling* as a situation when several products are offered and priced together – in the case of *pure bundling*

⁸⁹ Also Kerber and Kern (2014:48).

⁹⁰ Those four conditions are very close to the conditions of the essential facilities, hence the control of an essential facility in antitrust sense is a source of competitive advantage in the strategic management sense.

⁹¹ Decision of the Commission of 6 December 2016, M.8124 *Microsoft/LinkedIn*.

⁹² Ibidem, paras 167-181.

⁹³ Ibidem, paras 246-277.

⁹⁴ Similarly, OECD (2012) and Shelanski (2013) recommend downplaying the

role of market definition in dynamic sectors to alleviate its static bias. More radically, Kaplow (2010) suggests to by-pass the market definition.

⁹⁵ The analysis of potential competition for product markets and the definition of innovation capabilities market improve the dynamic of antitrust analysis, but as explained by Kern (2014), both methods do not lead to the same results, hence are not substitutable. The potential competition analysis on product market focus mainly on prices (and to a lesser extend quality) effects while the innovation markets focus on innovation effects.

the products are only sold jointly in fixed proportions while in the case of *mixed bundling*, the products are also available separately, but the sum of the standalone prices is higher than the bundled price –.⁹⁶ In the following, we will refer to bundling in a general manner, also covering tying. As explained by the Commission in its Guidelines, bundling is often procompetitive and increases consumer welfare, but in some circumstances, it may be anti-competitive and lead to market foreclosure.

Bundling via internal development done by a dominant firm is prohibited under Article 102 TFEU when anti-competitive. The Commission prioritises action when (i) the tying and the tied products are distinct products and (ii) anti-competitive effects are the most likely, which is the case when the firm can commit to its bundling strategy, for instance through technical means, when many products are bundled or when the prices of the tying product are regulated.⁹⁷

Bundling via mergers and acquisitions is prohibited under the Merger Regulation when anti-competitive. The Commission indicates that it will analyse (i) the ability of the merging firms to foreclose the tied market, which depends on the market power of the merging firms, the consumer overlaps between products, the economies of scale and network externalities, the commitment devices and the defensive strategies of the rivals; (ii) the incentive to foreclose which requires that the benefits of the bundling outweigh its costs; and (iii) the overall likely impact on prices and choice and ultimately consumer welfare.⁹⁸

(ii) Recommendations

As we explained in section 2.1.2., firms in the digital sector have more incentives to offer bundles, or more broadly to create product ecosystems than in other sectors due to specific supply-side and/ or demand-side synergies. On the supply-side, important economies of scale and scope in product development due to modular design and sharable

inputs allow firms to create product variants at low incremental costs, which may be unrelated to their basic products, or even complementary, thereby increasing the ability and the incentives to engage in bundling or to create product ecosystems. On the demand-side, consumption synergies that are generated for consumers within a product ecosystem may also increase the incentives of firms to offer bundles or product ecosystems to capture this created value. Since both supply-side synergies and demand-side synergies may be generated and captured in the design of digital products, they may reinforce each other and make bundling and/or the creation of product ecosystems particularly attractive for digital companies.

Moreover, as we explained in section 2.2.1, bundling may have both positive and negative competitive effects and, in the digital sector, both are often amplified. At a very general level, the competitive effects of bundling depend on whether bundling creates efficiencies, which may be the case in particular via supply-side and demand-side synergies, and whether those efficiencies are passed on to consumers. This, in turn, depends on the market characteristics and conditions, in particular the competition between digital firms and the possibility of the consumers to move or multi-home between those firms.

Therefore, the criteria and market characteristics mentioned by the Commission in the Article 102 Priorities Guidance and in the Non-Horizontal Mergers Guidelines to determine whether bundling is anti-competitive should be adapted and extended to the characteristics of the digital economy. In particular, competition authorities should focus on the anti-competitive effects of bundling as entry barriers for innovators, as a means to reduce competition by increasing differentiation, as well as the anticompetitive effects on the envelopment strategies combining economies of scope on the supply-side and network effects on the demand-side.

⁹⁶ Commission Guidelines on the assessment of non-horizontal mergers, paras 96-97; Commission Guidance on the enforcement priorities in applying Article 102 TFUE, para. 48.

⁹⁷ Commission Guidance on the enforcement priorities in applying Article 102

TFEU, paras 51-62.

⁹⁸ Commission Guidelines on the assessment of non-horizontal mergers, paras 95-118.

3.3.2. Access to key inputs and components

(i) Current law and practice

The control of key components may impede market entry and contestability when those components are key to enter downstream markets. This is why competition law imposes access to those components under some conditions.

When a firm acquires the control of essential components through internal development, competition law imposes access under very strict conditions to preserve the incentives of the firm to develop those components. A competition authority may impose access when it proves the very strict conditions of the so-called essential facilities doctrine: (i) the access to the input is objectively necessary to compete effectively on a downstream market, (ii) the refusal to give access to the input is likely to lead to the elimination of effective competition on this downstream market and (iii) this will lead to consumer harm such as preventing competitors from bringing innovative products or at least improved products based on follow-on innovation.99

When the firm acquires the control of essential components through a merger or acquisition, competition law imposes future access under less strict conditions. In a vertical merger, the antitrust agency may impose structural or behavioural remedies when it proves the conditions of an input foreclosure: (i) the ability to foreclose access to the input, (ii) the incentive to foreclose the access to the input and (iii) the overall likely negative impact on effective competition.¹⁰⁰ To prove the ability to foreclose, the agency should show that the input is important to enter the downstream market but not necessarily that it meets the essential

facility requirements.¹⁰¹ As already explained, the Commission applied this methodology in *Microsoft/LinkedIn* to determine whether LinkedIn's data were an important input to develop machine learning based CRM software and found that this was not the case.¹⁰²

(ii) Recommendations

As we have seen in Section 2.1.2, the control of key components may motivate the formation and expansion of digital conglomerates and may be one of the reasons for their competitive edge when such components are at the basis of modular innovation. As explained in Section 2.2.2, the control of those key components may lead to different competitive concerns, in particular an anti-competitive product proliferation strategy which is less costly than in non-digital sectors and a refusal to share those components, impeding the entry of innovators.

To the extent that it is possible to identify those key components, one potential remedy to allow competition to emerge and ensure market contestability is to require access to such key components. If technically feasible, compulsory access will allow entrants, on the one hand, to enjoy the same economies of scope in product development as the incumbent firm and, on the other hand, to generate demand-side synergies of similar magnitude when integrating the key component in their product ecosystems.

However, as explained by the Commission¹⁰³ and the Court of Justice,¹⁰⁴ compulsory access always involves a trade-off between short-term competition, which it aims to stimulate, and innovation incentives of the various market players, in particular the dominant firms subject to the access provision. This trade-off should be assessed against the specific

⁹⁹ Commission Guidance on the enforcement priorities in applying Article 102 TFEU, paras 83-88.

¹⁰⁰ Commission Guidelines on the assessment of non-horizontal mergers, paras, 33-57.

¹⁰¹ Commission Guidelines on the assessment of non-horizontal mergers, para 34 where the Commission explains that: "Input foreclosure may raise competition problems only if it concerns an important input for the downstream product. This is the case, for example, when the input concerned represents a significant cost factor relative to the price of the downstream product. Irrespective of its cost, an input may also be sufficiently important for other reasons. For instance,

the input may be a critical component without which the downstream product could not be manufactured or effectively sold on the market, or it may represent a significant source of product differentiation for the downstream product. It may also be that the cost of switching to alternative inputs is relatively high."

¹⁰² Decision of the Commission of 6 December 2016, M.8124 *Microsoft/LinkedIn*, paras 253-277.

¹⁰³ Commission Guidance on the enforcement priorities in applying Article 102 TFEU, para 75.

¹⁰⁴ In particular, the Opinion of the Advocate General Jacobs in Case C-7-97 *Bronner v. MediaPrint*, paras 56-70.

characteristics of the digital key inputs whose access is considered. For instance, if the key input analysed is a dataset,¹⁰⁵ the trade-off between short term and long term competition should be assessed against the characteristics of data, in particular the non-rivalry and the general-purpose technology. On the one hand, the costs of compulsory access are smaller for non-rival products than for rival products because the owner of the former can share them without losing their use.¹⁰⁶ On the other hand, the benefits of compulsory access are higher for general-purpose technologies than for other products because of the pervasiveness, the inherent potential for technical improvements and the innovational complementarities of the former (Bresnahan and Trajtenberg, 1995). Therefore, applying the same trade-off between short and longterm competition and innovation, the conditions to impose data sharing under competition law may in many instances be lower for data than for other products. Similarly, Schweitzer et al. (2018) suggest that: "the threshold for finding that a refusal to supply data constitutes an abuse may be somewhat lower than the threshold for finding an abuse in cases of a refusal to grant access to infrastructures or to intellectual property rights."107

3.3.3. Pre-emptive acquisition in the kill zone: A Downward Innovation Pressure test

(i) Current law and practice

Currently at the EU level, the merger notification threshold is based on the monetary turnover of the firms.¹⁰⁸ Therefore, concentration involving firms with small monetary turnover is normally not screened by the European Commission even when the value of the transaction is very important. This is why the acquisition of Instagram by Facebook was not

¹⁰⁵ Potential other key components include algorithms, software or search technologies.

analysed by the Commission and why, without the specific referral by national competition authorities, the acquisition of WhatsApp by Facebook would not have been analysed by the Commission.

When reviewing a merger, the Commission then assesses its impacts on all the parameters of competition such as prices, output, choice and quality, but also innovation.¹⁰⁹ Dow/DuPont is probably the case where the Commission analysed most extensively the effects of the mergers on the incentives of the merging parties to innovate.¹¹⁰ In this case, the Commission concluded that the merger was likely to lead to a reduction of innovation with discontinuation, delay, or reorientation of the parties' existing overlapping lines of research and pipelines products in herbicide and insecticide and with reduced incentives to start new research. For those reasons, the Commission only allowed the merger after the divestment of a large part of DuPont's herbicide and insecticide businesses and R&D organisation, including pipelines at the discovery stages and R&D facilities.111

As explained by Ibanez Colomo (2016), restrictions on innovation may be assessed indirectly or directly by competition authorities. In the first approach, the authorities focus their analysis on market rivalry and foreclosure that, in turn, influence all the parameters of competition including innovation. Hence, the effects on innovation are only indirectly taken into account as a consequence of the change in market rivalry. In the second approach, the authorities focus their analysis directly on innovation, possibly bypassing the assessment, and the proof to the requisite legal standard, of market foreclosure. The author welcomes the first approach as respecting the traditional tenet of EU competition law, but rejects the second

 ¹⁰⁶ The costs of compulsory sharing in reducing data collection incentives are also lower when the data were collected as by-product or incidentally and without specific investment: Prufer and Schottmuller (2017) and Schweitzer et al. (2018).
 ¹⁰⁷ At para 10 of the English summary report. OECD (2015) goes also in the

same direction. ¹⁰⁸ Article 1 of the Council Regulation 139/2004 of 20 January 2004 on the control of concentrations between undertakings, O.J. [2004] L 25/1.

¹⁰⁹ Commission Guidelines on the assessment of horizontal mergers under the Council Regulation on the control of concentrations between undertakings, O.J.

^[2004] C 31/5, para 8. At para 38, the Commission indicates that: "in markets where innovation is an important competitive force (...) effective competition may be significantly impeded by a merger between two important innovators, for instance between two companies with 'pipeline' products related to a specific product market. Similarly, a firm with a relatively small market share may nevertheless be an important competitive force if it has promising pipeline products."

¹¹⁰ Commission Decision of 27 March 2017, Case M. 7932 *Dow/DuPont*.

¹¹¹ As explained in Bertuzzi et al. (2017).

¹¹² He has also a third critique to the direct approach as it would lead to regulating the market and choice between different types of innovation.

because,¹¹² as we understand his views, the theories on the innovation incentives are not sufficiently robust to meet the high convincing standard of proof set by the Court of Justice and to ensure a meaningful constraint on the discretion of antitrust authorities.¹¹³

However, we disagree with those views. First, the distinction between the indirect and the direct approach is not always clear-cut in practice as the authorities always assess the effects of a conduct on the market rivalry. For instance, in *Dow/DuPont* where the Commission directly determined the effects of the mergers on innovation, it also assessed the effects on market rivalry. Second, the indirect approach assumes that a decrease in market rivalry is always detrimental to innovation.¹¹⁴ However as numerous theoretical and empirical studies have shown, this assumption does not always hold.¹¹⁵ Third and more importantly, there are economic theories within industrial organisation literature¹¹⁶ and outside¹¹⁷ on which antitrust agencies may base themselves, which allow antitrust authorities to directly assess the effects of a merger on innovation. Those theories are developing rapidly in the industrial organisation field, notably thanks to the Dow/DuPont case.

(ii) Recommendations

A notification threshold based on the turnover is not sufficient to capture some potentially harmful killer acquisitions because those acquisitions often take place early in the life cycle of the target firms when they do not yet have a large monetary turnover. This is especially the case in the digital economy where many start-ups focus more on the growth of their customer base than the growth of their turnover and profit as they want to be the first to benefit from network effects and that the market might tip in their favour. Therefore, we think that the current merger notification threshold should be complemented by a threshold based on the value of the merger transaction, as is now the case in Germany and Austria.118 This complement does not imply that all concentrations with a relative high transaction value over the turnover value should be considered as anti-competitive killer acquisitions. It merely means that those transactions should be reviewed by the Commission to determine whether the high transaction price reflects the important future revenues expected from the innovative target (which is welfare enhancing) or reflects the insurance premium for market stability and monopoly rent when the acquired innovation will be killed (which is welfare detrimental). Moreover, this change should not substantially increase the number of concentrations to be notified as the merger transaction value is aligned on the merging firms' monetary turnover in the majority of the cases.

Moreover, given the importance of innovation in the digital sector and the risk that this innovation is thwarted by shoot-out mergers in the kill zone, and given the existing economic theories on merger and innovation within and outside the industrial economics literature, we think that antitrust authorities should directly assess the effects of a concentration on innovation. To do that, authorities should rely, to the extent feasible, on specific but robust tools such as innovation markets (see above) or the downward innovation pressure test (as proposed by Shelanski, 2013:1703-1704).¹¹⁹

In practice, the merger review could happen as follows: (i) First, the antitrust agency should focus on

¹¹² He has also a third critique to the direct approach as it would lead to regulating the market and choice between different types of innovation.

¹¹³ Petit (2018) also worries about the lack of robust theories for the unilateral effects on competition innovation. However, in another paper, Petit (2016:52-64), complaining about the failure of traditional competition economics to understand and capture the innovation dynamics in the digital sector, calls for applying new theories outside of industrial organisation. As explained by Kerber (2018), those theories have more robust explanations for innovation.

¹¹⁴ As explicitly recognised by Ibanez Colomo (2016) when noting that: 'Administrative action under competition law still takes as a starting point the rough presumption according to which less concentrated markets are more competitive than more concentrated ones.'

¹¹⁵ On this, see Kerber and Kern (2014 :5-15).

¹¹⁶ For instance, Denicolo and Polo (2018); Federico, Langus and Valletti (2018); Motta and Tarantino (2016). Interestingly, this literature has been triggered by antitrust cases, notably the *Dow/DuPont* decision showing the important feedback loop between theory and practice.

¹¹⁷ In particular in evolutionary economics, innovation studies and strategic management: Kerber and Kern (2014). As Porter (2002:24) observes: "Current merger evaluation is also compromised by its reliance on short-term price and quantity analysis. The result is a sort of false precision, in which tools like merger simulation seem to be exact but assume a stylized model of competition based solely on price and quantity and say little about what will occur in the long run." ¹¹⁸ The Commission ran on public consultation on this issue in 2016-2017: <u>www.</u> ec.europa.eu/competition/consultations/2016_merger_control/index_en.html ¹¹⁹ Also Katz and Shelanski (2007).

the risks of cannibalisation effects: is there a plausible scenario where the acquired firm (the entrant), using its innovation, could eat into the market of the acquirer (incumbent)? If the answer is no, then the inquiry need not proceed further; (ii) If the answer is yes, then the agency should ascertain how the post-merger cannibalisation effects influence the incentives of the incumbent: are the gains to be expected from letting the innovation onto the market (taking uncertainty into account) larger than the losses to be incurred? The answer to that question is correlated to the market position of the incumbent, as the more market power the incumbent holds, the larger the anticipated loss will be; (iii) Once it becomes clear that the incumbent would have an incentive to delay or cancel potential innovation, the agency should inquire directly into the business plans of the incumbent even if this is unusual under merger control. The incumbent should be able to give a clear and convincing explanation why it will embrace, and not shelve, the entrant's potentially disruptive innovation. Even better, the agency could request a commitment along those lines.¹²⁰ In the absence of a convincing explanation or a commitment, the merger should be prohibited. In addition, as suggested by Schweitzer et al. (2018), the agency should also consider the existence of an overall strategy of systematically acquiring fastgrowing potential competitors.

3.4. Procedures and Institutions

3.4.1. Markets dynamism and antitrust velocity

(i) Current law and practices

With the exception of the merger review for which strict deadlines are imposed, the timing of antitrust decisions is often too slow and not aligned with the timing of market evolutions. This time lag is particularly harmful in the digital sector because, on the one hand, antitrust actions often take more time than average as new and complex technical and legal issues are raised while, on the other hand, markets are evolving more quickly than average due to rapid technological progress.

One way to reduce this time lag without sacrificing the due process and the quality of the final decision is to rely on interim measures before the adoption of the final decision. However, the legal conditions to impose those interim measures are strict, to alleviate over-use and abuse. They mainly relate to the high costs of delaying intervention (in a decision theory framework, the costs of type II errors are high) and the high probability of finding a competition infringement (in a decision theory framework, the risks of type I errors are low).¹²¹ While the first condition may, in some circumstances, be easily met in the digital sector because markets evolve and tip very guickly, the second condition is often more difficult to fulfil in digital cases which raise new technical and legal issues.

(ii) Recommendations

Given the very rapid evolution of digital markets and, often, their quick tipping due to the network effects, it is crucial to reduce the time lag between market evolution and antitrust process. This requires increasing the technical expertise and the information of the antitrust agencies as well as enhancing their experience in dealing with digital markets.

To increase their expertise in digital technologies and market strategies, the antitrust agencies should hire more computer and data scientists, do studies on the digital economy and, when necessary, launch market investigations or sector enquiries and run public consultations.¹²² They should also cooperate with other national and international authorities regulating digital markets, such as the agencies in charge of data protection, consumer protection or

¹²⁰ de Streel and Larouche (2015).

¹²¹ Article 8(1) of Council Regulation 1/2003 of 16 December 2002 on the implementation of the rules on competition laid down in Articles [101] and [102] of the Treaty, O.J. [2003] L 1/1 provides that: *'in cases of urgency due to the risk of serious and irreparable damage to competition, the Commission, acting on its own initiative may by decision, on the basis of a prima facie finding of infringe-*

ment, order interim measures.'

¹²² For instance, European Commission: <u>www.ec.europa.eu/competition/infor-</u> <u>mation/digitisation_2018/index_en.html;</u> US Federal Trade Commission: <u>www.</u> <u>ftc.gov/policy/hearings-competition-consumer-protection;</u> the Australian ACCC: <u>www.accc.gov.au/focus-areas/inquiries/digital-platforms-inquiry/preliminary-re-</u> <u>port.</u>

digital network security. All this will also reduce the asymmetry of information between the firms and the antitrust agencies, which is often more important in the digital sector than in the rest of the economy because of the complexity and the rapid evolutions of the technologies.

To enhance experience, antitrust agencies should learn by doing, be ready to make mistakes and learn from those. Antitrust agencies, like every public authority, faces the obvious trade-off between, on the one hand, relying on tested-and-trialled theories of harm to preserve legal certainty and increase the probability of winning in Courts and, on the other hand, using novel theories and methodologies to learn how to adapt antitrust tools to changing technologies and markets and increase the effectiveness of antitrust enforcement. As explained by Tirole, the more rapid evolution of the digital markets justifies more trials and errors by agencies.¹²³ This requires a change in the legal standard of proof which should more equally balance the risks and the costs of errors as explained in the next section. This also requires a more systematic ex-post analysis of the antitrust decisions to determine whether the methodologies used were appropriate and, when remedies were imposed, determine whether they have been effective in order to improve future cases.124

The adoption of new deadlines for ex post antitrust cases, next to the existing deadlines for ex ante merger cases, may also help in reducing the time lag between market and antitrust, as the experience in Spain demonstrates. However, some safeguards should be in place to alleviate adverse case selection and to ensure that the agencies will not focus merely on the easy cases that can be decided quickly and ignore the hard cases that can be more useful for the agencies and for the markets. Finally, as suggested by the German Monopolkommission (2015), interim measures could be more frequently used, in particular when the costs of type II errors are particularly important.

3.4.2. Market uncertainty and antitrust legal proof

(i) Current law and practice

Currently, there is no presumption of legality or illegality in the Merger Regulation and the standard of proof is the same for the Commission to authorise or prohibit a merger.¹²⁵ This standard of proof relates to the most probable post-merger market evolution. According to the Court of Justice: "the Commission is, in principle, required to adopt a position, either in the sense of approving or of prohibiting the concentration, in accordance with its assessment of the economic outcome attributable to the concentration which is most likely to ensue."¹²⁶ Thus, the Commission should authorise the concentration when it is more probable than not that such concentration is pro-competitive and, conversely, prohibit the operation or impose remedies when it is more probable than not that the concentration is anti-competitive.

In the decision theory framework, the equal standard of proof to authorise or prohibit the concentration means that the Commission should consider equally the type I error (prohibiting a merger that is pro-competitive) and type II error (authorising a merger that is anticompetitive). The 'more likely than not' standard means that the Commission should focus more on the risks than the costs of those errors. In other words, the Commission should minimise the risks of errors but not the costs of errors nor, as the economists would recommend, the risks multiplied by the costs of antitrust errors. This may not be appropriate in the digital sector where the market evolution is often very uncertain, and hence the probability of errors is inevitably high, and where markets tip quickly, meaning that the costs of type II errors may be very high.¹²⁷ This would in particular be the case if, following the Opinion of Advocate General Tizzano in Tetra Laval, the Commission should authorise

¹²⁴ For a very good ex post analysis of US merger decisions, see Kwoka (2015).

¹²³ Jean Tirole observes that "regulators and economists must be humble; they will learn by doing, and their policies should not be cast in stone": *Regulating the Disruptors*, available at www.livemint.com/Technology/XsgWUgy9tR4uaoME7x-ttTl/Regulating-the-disrupters-Jean-Tirole.html

¹²⁵ Case C-413/06P *Bertelsmann and Sony/Impala*, ECLI:EU:C:2008:392, para 46 and 48.

¹²⁶ Case C-413/06P Bertelsmann and Sony/Impala, para 52 ; also Case T-79/12 Cisco and Messaget v. Commission, ECLI:EU:T:2013:635, para 47.

the concentration when the market evolution is so uncertain that is not possible to determine a future which is more probable.¹²⁸

In the particular case of conglomerate mergers, the Court of Justice has set the proof requirement at a high level in Tetra Laval and in Impala by judging that: "the decisions of the Commission as to the compatibility of concentrations with the common market must be supported by a sufficiently cogent and consistent body of evidence (...) and in the context of the analysis of a 'conglomerate-type' concentration the quality of the evidence produced by the Commission in order to establish that it is necessary to adopt a decision declaring the concentration incompatible with the common market is particularly important".¹²⁹ The high requirement is justified by the positive prior that the industrial organisation literature had on conglomerate mergers, as the General Court explained in Tetra Laval.130

(ii) Recommendations

Salop (2017) shows that rational decision making under imperfect information should not necessarily attach more weight to the risks than to the costs of antitrust errors as the Court of Justice requires (and as generally lawyers tend to do). When the costs of errors are particularly important, neglecting them can be particularly harmful to consumer welfare. Therefore, we recommend that the Courts should adapt the standard of proof and move from a 'more likely than not' standard to a standard that take the risks and the costs of antitrust error equally into account.¹³¹ In addition, given the amplified dangers that conglomerates may raise in the digital economy, we suggest that the Courts and the Commission replace the current positive prior vis-àvis conglomerate mergers, which was justified before, by a more neutral prior and do not necessarily apply higher proof requirements for conglomerate mergers than for vertical mergers.

Some go further and suggest changing the burden of proof by establishing a rebuttable presumption of anti-competitive effects in some merger settings, for instance when the acquirer is super dominant.¹³² However, the justification and the impact of those proposals need to be investigated further and discussed in the more general context of the use of presumptions in competition enforcement when uncertainty and information asymmetry are important. While uncertainty on the market evolution or competitive effects goes against the extension of presumptions which are often used as a shortcut when effects have been known from the past cases, information asymmetry favours the use of presumptions to reduce the costs of information collection.

position will not be created or strengthened (...) I believe that in such cases the most correct solution is quite certainly to authorise the notified transactions.' ¹²⁹ Case C-413/06P Bertelsmann and Sony/Impala, ECLI:EU:C:2008:392, para 50. Also Case C-12/03P TetraLaval v. Commission, ECLI:EU :C:2005:87, para 44 ; also Case T-79/12 Cisco and Messaget v. Commission, para 117.

¹²⁷ The rapid market evolution does not necessarily make the costs of type II errors low as then-Competition Commissioner Monti explained nearly 20 years ago: 'I also have doubts that the pace of development in technology sectors will inevitably mean that market failures will last only for a short time. The risk is rather that a position of market power may be temporary in the absence of anti-competitive action – but anti-competitive action by the company with market power would render that temporary strength permanent. This is surely one of the concerns of the Microsoft case in the US, and can also be seen in some of the leveraging cases that I will mention later'. Competition in the New Economy, Speech at the 10th International Conference of the Bundeskartellambt, 21 May 2001.

¹²⁸ Opinion of the Advocate General Tizzano in Case C-12/03P TetraLaval v. Commission para 76 and 77: ' (...) there is between the cases in which the notified transactions would very probably create or strengthen a dominant position (...) and the cases in which those transactions very probably would not create or strengthen such a dominant position, a 'grey area': an area, that is to say, in which cases are to be found where it is especially difficult to foresee the effects of the notified transaction and where it is therefore impossible to arrive at a clear distinct conviction that the likelihood that a dominant position will be created or strengthened is significantly greater or less than the likelihood that such a

¹³⁰ Case T-5/02 Tetra Laval v. Commission, ECLI:EU:T:2002:264, para 155: 'Since the effects of a conglomerate-type merger are generally considered to be neutral, or even beneficial, for competition on the markets concerned, as is recognised in the present case by the economic writings cited in the analyses annexed to the parties' written pleadings, the proof of anti-competitive conglomerate effects of such a merger calls for a precise examination, supported by convincing evidence, of the circumstances which allegedly produce those effects'.

¹³¹ We understand that Heike Schweitzer made a suggestion going in the same direction at the Conference on Shaping competition policy in the era of digitisation organised on 17 January 2019 by DG Competition of the European Commission: www.ec.europa.eu/competition/information/digitisation_2018/index_en.html

¹³² As suggested by Tommaso Valletti at CRA Conference: <u>www.ecp.crai.com/</u> wp-content/uploads/2018/12/Tommaso-Valletti-2018.pdf

4. CONCLUSION

This paper starts with one observation, the rise of digital conglomerates, and one question, how this rise should affect the enforcement of EU competition policy.

We think that the rise of digital conglomerates is not necessarily abnormal or transitory as sometimes presented in the financial press, but may perfectly be explained by the specific characteristics of the digital economy. On the supply-side, innovation, development and production are often modular and based on inputs (such as data, hardware and software, specific computer skills) which can be shared among several goods or services, thereby increasing the economies of scope in product development. Moreover, some of those shareable inputs cannot easily be traded on the markets because of the uncertainty or the severity of the legal regime to which they are subject (think of non-personal or personal data), thereby increasing the incentives of the firms to internalise those economies of scope. On the demand-side, digital products often exhibit important consumption synergies giving additional incentives to firms to expand their product lines or to create product ecosystems to capture the value of some of those synergies. In addition, the feedback loops between supply-side and demandside may strengthen even further the conglomerate incentives.

The next question, then, is what are the competitive effects of those conglomerates? Up to now, conglomerate diversification has been seen with a positive prior by antitrust agencies and their only serious concern is market foreclosure with product tying and bundling. However, to paraphrase Jean Tirole, digital conglomerates represent opportunities but also introduce new dangers while amplifying others. Indeed, digital conglomerates amplify the competitive effects of bundling. On the positive side, conglomerate bundling allows firms and consumers to benefit from economies of scope on the supplyside and on the demand-side. On the negative side, conglomerate bundling can be a tool to raise entry barriers for innovative entrants wanting to focus on a market niche, or to increase differentiation and reduce competition. It can also be a tool for big platforms, relying on their economies of scope on the supplyside and network effects and customer base on the demand-side, to envelop and then eliminate smaller competitors on adjacent markets. In addition, digital conglomerates can also amplify other dangers such as anti-competitive product proliferation, whose costs decrease with the increase of economies of scope or the refusal to give access to key sharable inputs. Those dangers are particularly worrisome when the digital conglomerate has achieved a position of gatekeeper for access to specific customers or content and product. Those dangers should always be balanced with the amplified opportunities brought by digital conglomerates. Finally, the conglomerate diversification through the acquisition of innovative start-ups may be driven by efficiency motives (the large firms bringing skills and resources that are complementary to the innovation developed by the start-ups) or by pre-emptive motives, leading possibly to killer acquisitions, to the detriment of innovation.

This analysis led us to recommend improvements to EU competition policy when applied in the digital economy, regarding objectives and market power assessment, theories of harm and modes of operation. Given the importance of innovation in the digital

economy, we think that dynamic efficiency should be prioritised over static efficiencies and that market power should be assessed much more dynamically by focusing more on potential competition and entry barriers and by moving, when feasible, from products/ output to capabilities/input market definitions on the basis of which power could then be determined. Given the new competitive risks raised by digital conglomerates, some theories of harm need to be adapted or complemented: bundling may now be an anti-competitive tool to raise entry barriers against innovators, to increase differentiation and reduce competition or to envelop smaller competitors; compulsory access to key shareable inputs may have less costs; and more benefits and innovative start-up acquisitions should be reviewed as they may reduce innovation incentives. Given the velocity and uncertainty of digital technologies and market evolution, antitrust intervention should be quicker and more agile. Hence, antitrust agencies should enhance their digital expertise and learn more by taking cases, inevitably making mistakes but learning from those.

Also, the standard of proof should not necessarily prioritise the minimisation of the risks of errors over the minimisation of the costs of errors and the positive prior on conglomerate merger should be replaced by a more neutral prior.

The more fundamental question in the background of this paper is how public intervention should be made more effective in an environment that is more concentrated due to the massive network effects and more uncertain due to the rapid technological progress and innovation. To deal with concentration, public agencies need to ensure that markets remain contestable and contested. To deal with uncertainty, agencies need to experiment more and learn by doing.

REFERENCES

Alchian A. (1969), 'Corporate Management and Property Rights' in *Economic Policy and the Regulation of Corporate Securities*, American Enterprise Institute, 337–360.

Amelio A. and B. Jullien (2012). "Tying and freebies in two-sided markets", *International Journal of Industrial Organization*, 30, 436–446.

Armstrong M. (2006). "Competition in two-sided markets", *RAND Journal of Economics*, 37(3), 668–691.

Audretsch D.B. (1989), 'The Determinants of Conglomerate Mergers', *The American Economist* 3(1), 52–60.

Baye M.R. and J. Morgan (2001), 'Information Gatekeepers on the Internet and the Competitiveness of Homogeneous Product Markets, *AER*, 91(3) 454-474.

Barney J.B. (1991), 'Firm resources and sustained competitive advantage', *Journal of Management* 17(1), 99-120.

Belleflamme P. and M. Peitz (2015), *Industrial Organisation*, Cambridge University Press.

Bernheim B.D. and M.D. Whinston (1990), 'Multimarket Contact and Collusive Behavior', *RAND Journal of Economics* 21, 1–26.

Bertuzzi A., S. Blanco Thomas, D. Coulbucq, J. Jonckheere, J. Tew and T. Deisenhofer (2017), '*Dow/DuPont*: protecting product and innovation competition', *Competition Merger Brief* 2/2017, 1-8. Bourreau M., P. Doğan and M. Manant (2007). "Modularity and Innovation in Digital Markets", *Review* of Network Economics, 6(2), 175–193.

Bourreau M., P. Doğan and M. Manant (2016). "Size of RJVs and Degree of Cooperation in Product Development," *International Journal of Industrial Organization*, 46, 77-106.

Bourreau M., A. de Streel and I. Graef (2017), *Big Data* and Competition Policy: Market power, personalised pricing and advertising, CERRE Report, available at <u>www.cerre.eu/sites/cerre/files/170216 CERRE</u> <u>CompData_FinalReport.pdf</u>

Bourreau M and G. Gaudin (2018). "Streaming Platform and Strategic Recommendation Bias", CESifo Working Paper 7390.

Bresnahan T.F. and M. Trajtenberg (1995), 'General purpose technologies: Engines of growth?', *Jour. of Econometrics* 65(1), 83-108.

Caillaud B. and B. Jullien (2003). "Chicken and egg: competition among intermediation service providers", *RAND Journal of Economics* 34(2), 309–328.

Carlton D. and M. Waldman (2005). "Theories of tying and implications for antitrust", available at <u>www.ssrn.</u> <u>com/abstract=809304.</u>

Chen Z. and P. Rey (2018). "A Theory of Conglomerate Mergers", mimeo.

Choi J.P. and C. Stefanidis (2001). "Tying, Investment, and the Dynamic Leverage Theory", *RAND Journal of Economics* 32(1), 52–71. Choi J.P. (2004), 'Tying and Innovation: A Dynamic Analysis of Tying Arrangements', *Economic Journal* 114, 83–101.

Choi J.P. (2010). "Tying in two-sided markets with multi-homing", *Journal of Industrial Economics*, 58(3), 607–626.

Christensen c.M. (1997). The innovator's dilemma. When new technologies cause great firms to fail. Harvard Business Review Press.

Church J. (2004). "The Impact of Vertical and Conglomerate Mergers on Competition, Report for DG Competition". available at <u>www.publications.europa.</u> <u>eu/en/publication-detail/-/publication/d95d239c-</u> 2844-4c95-80a4-2181e85e8329.

Cunningham C., Ederer F. and S. Ma (2018), *Killer Acquisitions*, Mimeo.

de Bijl P. and M. Peitz (2002), *Regulation and Entry into Telecommunications Markets*, Cambridge University Press.

de Cornière A. and G. Taylor (2014). "Integration and search engine bias", *RAND Journal of Economics* 45(3), 576–597.

de la Mano M. and J. Padilla (2018), *Big Tech Banking*, Mimeo.

de Streel A. and P. Larouche, Disruptive Innovation and Competition Policy Enforcement, OECD Background Paper, DAF/COMP/GF(2015)7

Deneffe D. and P. Wakker (1996). "Mergers, Strategic Investments and Antitrust Policy", *Managerial and Decision Economics* 17(3), 231–240.

Denicolò V. and M. Polo (2018), 'Duplicative research, mergers and innovation', *Economics Letters*, 166, 56–59.

Eaton B.C. and N. Schmitt (1994), 'Flexible Manufacturing and Market Structure', *American Economic Review* 84(4), 875–888. Eisenmann T., Parker G. and Van Alstyne M. (2011), 'Platform Envelopment', *Strategic Management Journal* 32, 1270-1285.

Federico G., G. Langus and T. Valletti (2018), 'Horizontal mergers and product innovation', International Journal of Industrial Organization 59, 1–23.

Gans, Joshua S. and Scott Stern (2003), "The product market and the market for "ideas": commercialization strategies for technology entrepreneurs," *Research Policy*, 32(2), 333-350.

Gans, J.S. and S. Stern (2010). "Is there a market for ideas?" *Industrial and Corporate Change*, 19(3), 805-837.

Gertner R.H., Scharfstein D.S. and Jeremy C. (1994). "Internal Versus External Capital Markets", *Quarterly Journal of Economics*, 109, 1211–1230.

Gilbert R. J. and S. C. Sunshine (1995), "Incorporating Dynamic Efficiency Concerns in Merger Analysis: The Use of Innovation Markets", *Antitrust Law Journal* 63, 569-601.

Gilbert, R. (2006) "Looking for Mr. Schumpeter: Where Are We in the Competition- Innovation Debate." in *Innovation Policy and the Economy*, vol. 6, edited by A. Jaffe, J. Lerner, and S. Stern, University of Chicago Press, 159-215.

Hagiu A. and B. Jullien (2011). "Why do intermediaries divert search?" *RAND Journal of Economics* 42(2), 337–362.

Hagiu A. and B. Jullien (2014). "Search diversion and platform competition", *International Journal of Industrial Organization* 33, 48–60.

Hubbard R.G. and D. Palia (1999), 'A Reexamination of the Conglomerate Merger Wave in the 1960s: An Internal Capital Markets View', *Journal of Finance* 54, 1131–1152. Hunold, Matthias, Reinhold Kesler and Ulrich Laitenberger (2018). "Hotel Rankings of Online Travel Agents, Channel Pricing and Consumer Protection", *Marketing Science*, forthcoming.

Ibanez Colomo P. (2016), "Restrictions on Innovation in EU Competition Law", *European Law Review* 41.

Jacobines, M.G., Cennamo C. and Gauwer A. (2015), Industries, Ecosystems, Platforms, and Architectures: Rethinking our Strategy Constructs at the Aggregate Level

Kaplow L. (2010), "Whey (Ever) Define Markets?", *Harvard Law Review* 124, 437.

Katz, M. and H.L. Shelanski (2007) "Mergers and Innovation", *Antitrust Law Journal*, 74(1), 1–85.

Kerber W. (2018), "Competition, Innovation and Competition Law: Dissecting the Interplay", in B. Meyring, D.Gerard, E.Morgan de Rivery (eds), Dynamic markets, *Dynamic competition and dynamic enforcement*, Bruylant, 33-62.

Kerber W. and Kern B.R. (2014) Assessing Innovation Effects in US Merger Policy: Theory, Practice, Recent Discussions and Perspectives, available on SSRN.

Klein P.G. (2001). "Were the Acquisitive Conglomerates Inefficient?" *RAND Journal of Economics*, 32(4), 745– 761.

Koca E. (2018). *Product Release Strategies in the Digital Economy*, PhD Thesis, Imperial College London.

Kwoka J. (2015), Mergers, Merger Control, and Remedies: A Retrospective Analysis of U.S. Policy, MIT Press.

Laidlaw E. (2010), 'A framework for identifying Internet information gatekeepers', International Review of Law, Computers & Technology 24(3) 263. Lambrecht A., A.Goldfarb, A. Bonatti, A. Ghose, D.G. Goldstein, Randall Lewis, Anita Rao, Navdeep Sahni, and Song Yao (2014). "How Do Firms Make Money Online?" *Marketing Letters*, 25(3), 331–341.

Lambrecht A. and C. Tucker (2015), «Can Big Data Protect a Firm from Competition?», available on SSRN.

Lerner A. (2014), «The Role of 'Big Data' in Online Platform Competition», available on SSRN

Lewellen W.G. (1971), 'A Pure Financial Rationale for the Conglomerate Merger', *Journal of Finance* 26, 527–37.

Lim Y. (2017). "Tech Wars: Return of the Conglomerate -- Throwback or Dawn of a New Series for Competition in the Digital Era?" Available at <u>www.papers.ssrn.</u> com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3051560.

Lynskey O. (2017). "Regulating 'Platform Power'," LSE Law, Society and Economy Working Papers 1/2017.

Lockett A. and S. Thompson (2001), 'The resourcebased view and economics', *Journal of Management* 27, 723-754.

Matsusaka J.G. (1993), 'Takeover Motives during the Conglomerate Merger Wave', *The RAND Journal of Economics* 24(3), 357-379.

Monopolkommission (2015), *Competition policy: The challenge of digital markets*, Special Report 68.

Montgomery C.A. (1994), 'Corporate Diversification', *Journal of Economic Perspectives* 8(3), 163-178.

Motta M. and H. Vasconcelos (2005), 'Efficiency gains and myopic antitrust authority in a dynamic merger game', *International Journal of Industrial Organization* 23, 777–801.

Motta M. and E. Tarantino (2016), *The Effect of a Merger on Investments*, CEPR Discussion Paper 11 550.

Mueller D.C. (1969), 'A Theory of Conglomerate Mergers', *The Quarterly Journal of Economics* 83(4), 643-659.

Nelson R. et al. (2018), Modern Evolutionary Economics: An Overview, Cambridge University Press.

Neven D.J. (2007), "The analysis of conglomerate effects in EU merger control", in *Handbook of Antitrust Economics*, MIT Press.

OECD (2012), Market Definition, DAF/COMP(2012)19.

OECD (2015), Data-Driven Innovation: Big Data for Growth and Well-Being, OECD Publications.

Panzar J.C. and R.D. Willig (1981), 'Economies of Scope', *American Economic Review* 71, 268–272.

Penrose E.T. (1959). *The Theory of the Growth of the Firm*, Basil Blackwell.

Petit N. (2016), *Technology Giants: The 'Moligopoly Hypothesis 'and Holistic Competition: A Primer,* available on SSRN.

Petit N. (2018), 'Innovation competition and merger policy: New? Not Sure. Robust? Not Quite!', *Concurrences* 2, 3-6.

Porter M.E. (1980) *Competitive Strategy: Techniques for Analyzing Industries and Competitors.*

Porter M.E. (1998), «The Microeconomic Foundations of Economic Development,» in *The Global Competitiveness Report 1998*, World Economic Forum.

Porter M.E. (2002), Competition and Antitrust: A Productivity-Based Approach, Mimeo.

Prat A. and T. Valletti (2018). "Attention Oligopoly", working paper, available at <u>www.papers.ssrn.com/</u> sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=3197930. Prufer J. and C. Schottmüller (2017), Competing with Big Data, *TILEC Discussion Paper 2017-006*.

Rochet J.C. and J. Tirole (2003). "Platform competition in two-sided markets", *Journal of the European Economic Association*, 1(4), 990–1029.

Rochet J.C. and J. Tirole (2006). «Two-sided markets: a progress report", *RAND Journal of Economics*, 37(3), 645–667.

Salop S.C. (2017), An Enquiry Meet for the Case: Decision Theory, Presumptions, and Evidentiary Burdens in Formulating Antitrust Legal Standards, Georgetown University Law Center.

Sanchez R. and J.T. Mahoney (1996). "Modularity, Flexibility, and Knowledge Management in Product and Organization Design," *Strategic Management Journal*, 17, 63-76.

Schweitzer H., Haucap J., Kerber W. and Welker R. (2018), *Modernising the law on abuse of market power*, Report for the Federal Ministry for Economic Affairs and Energy, 2018.

Shleifer A. and R.W. Vishny (1989). "Managerial Entrenchment: The Case of Manager-Specific Investments", *Journal of Financial Economics*, 25(1), 123–139.

Schmalensee, R. (1978). "Entry Deterrence in the Ready-to-Eat Breakfast Cereal Industry", *Bell Journal of Economics*, 9(2), 305–27.

Shapiro C. (2011) "Competition and Innovation: Did Arrow Hit the Bull's Eye?", in NBER, *The Rate and Direction of Inventive Activity: Revisited*, 361-410

Shelanski, H.A. (2013) "Information, Innovation, and Competition Policy for the Internet", *University of Pennsylvania Law Rev.* 161, 1663-1705.

Sidak, J. G., and D.J. Teece (2009) "Dynamic Competition in Antitrust Law", *Journal of Comparative Law and Economics* 5: 581.

Teece, D.J. (1982). "Towards an Economic Theory of the Multiproduct Firm", *Journal of Economic Behavior and Organization*, 3, 39–63.

Teece, D.J. (1980), "Economies of scope and the scope of the enterprise," *Journal of Economic Behavior and Organization* 1, 223–247.

Teece, D.J. (1986). "Profiting from technological innovation: Implications for integration, collaboration, licensing and public policy," *Research Policy*, 15(6), 285-305.

Teece, D.J. (2006). Reflections on "Profiting from Innovation," *Research Policy*, 35(8), 1131-1146.

Teece D.J. (2009), *Dynamic capabilities and strategic management*, Oxford University Press.

Wen W. and F. Zhu (2017). "Threat of Platform-Owner Entry and Complementor Responses: Evidence from the Mobile App Market", Mimeo.

Williamson, O. E. (1970). Corporate control and business behavior, Prentice Hall.

Wu T. (2018). "Blind Spot: The Attention Economy and the Law", *Antitrust Law Journal*, forthcoming.

Zhu F. and Q. Liu (2018). "Competing with Complementors: An Empirical Look at Amazon.com," *Strategic Management Journal*, 39(10), 2618-2642.